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as a holDing Company to a Range oF businesses, we at Dunamis 
Capital plC ReCognise the impoRtanCe oF tRust. the tRust that 
has been plaCeD in us by the Companies in whiCh we invest anD the 
tRust that is plaCeD upon us by ouR stakeholDeRs. it is that ample 
assuRanCe that takes us FaR in pRoviDing a CompRehensive seRviCe. you 
Can be suRe that the ConFiDenCe plaCeD in us will be as long-stanDing 
as ouR pResenCe in the inDustRy. tRust ouR ability to unloCk youR 
tRue potential anD guiDe you to FinanCial suCCess. 
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turnover

rs. 1,801 Mn
Dunamis Capital PLC recorded the consolidated turnover of 

Rs. 1,801 Million for the year 2013/14.

Profit after tax

rs. 125 Mn
The consolidated profit after tax for the year 

2013/14 is Rs. 125 Million.

total assets

rs. 17,366 Mn
The Group’s total assets as at 31 March 2014  

is Rs. 17,366 Million.

net assets Per share

rs. 11.53
Net assets per share as at 

31 March 2014 is Rs. 11.53.

GrouP financial hiGhliGhts
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GrouP financial hiGhliGhts contd.

Year ended 31 March 2014 2013 variance 
 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000

operating performance
Revenue 1,801,103 1,938,072 -7.07%
Profit before tax 211,242 362,879 -41.79%
Profit after tax 125,492 340,423 -63.14%
 
financial position
Total assets 17,366,336 14,705,449 18.09%
Total equity 1,974,786 2,087,214 -5.39%
Stated capital 445,994 445,994 -
Total liabilities  15,391,550 12,618,235 21.98%

Key indicators (rs.)
Earnings Per Share (EPS) 0.83 1.92 -56.77%
Net assets per share 11.53 11.96 -3.60%
Market Price per Share (MPS) 12.60 11.70 7.69%
Market capitalisation 1,549,762,830 1,439,065,485 7.69%

Number of shares in issue at year end 122,997,050 122,997,050 -
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Last year, the company 
identified the potentiaL to 
estabLish a high-end synthetic 
Leather manufacturing faciLity 
in sri Lanka and during the year 
estabLished an entity for this 
purpose, with a totaL investment 
of over rs. 500 mn in debt and 
equity. the production faciLity 
was set-up with overseas 
technicaL advice and state of 
the art imported machinery.

It gives me great pleasure in extending to 
you a warm welcome to the 29th Annual 
General Meeting of Dunamis Capital PLC 
and to present to you, on behalf of your 
Board of Directors, the Annual Report of 
the Company for the financial year ended 
31 March 2014.

econoMic overview
Despite the many economic challenges - 
principally external, our economy displayed 
a considerable resilience. All major 
economic sectors contributed to record 
a growth of 7.3%, an increase from the 
6.3% recorded in the previous year. This 
momentum is expected to continue into 
2014 at a projected 7.8%.

Single digit inflation for the fifth consecutive 
year enabled the Central Bank to ease 
monetary policy to stimulate economic 
activity. Though credit growth per se 
remained weak - slowing to 7.5% when 
compared to 17.6% in the previous year, 
a sustained low interest rate environment 
and a strong financial services sector, 
as evidenced by strong earnings 
growth, remained the cornerstone of 
macroeconomic growth.

The signal decline in interest rates in the 
year under review, was evidenced by 
commercial bank lending rates declining 
sharply from 14.3% to 9.9% during the 
year. Policy rates - the Standing Deposit 

ManaGinG director’s review

Facility Rate and the Standing Lending 
Facility Rate, which were 7.50% and 
9.50% at the beginning of the year, 
declined to 6.50% and 8% at the end of 
the year.

GrouP PerforMance
The Group’s results for the year fell short 
of expectations with profits after tax of 
Rs. 125 Mn compared with Rs. 340 Mn 
the previous year and those attributable 
to equity holders of the parent company 
closing at Rs. 102 Mn compared with  
Rs. 236 Mn reported in the previous year.
As in previous years strong trading profits 
from the group’s primary dealer, First 
Capital Treasuries continued to drive results.

Consolidated revenues declined marginally 
by 7% to Rs. 1.8 Bn compared to the  
Rs. 1.9 Bn achieved the previous year due 
to the modest revenue growth in financial 
services and offset by a decline in property 
development and a nil revenue contribution 
from Synthetic leather manufacturing.

Total group equity is just under Rs. 2 Bn
(2013 - Rs. 2,087 Mn) and Group equity 
attributable to shareholders of the Company
currently stands at Rs. 1,418 Mn
(2013 - Rs. 1,471 Mn).

At company level there was a marginal 
loss of Rs. 0.5 Mn compared to a profit 
of Rs. 807 Mn in the previous year, the 
exceptional level of profits in the previous 
year being due to the repurchase of shares 
amounting to Rs. 466 Mn by a subsidiary, 
and the receipt of a substantial dividend of 
Rs. 425 Mn. The Company’s main revenue 
component in the current year was 
dividend income from its financial services 
subsidiary amounting to Rs. 142 Mn.

Your company continued to be hampered 
by high finance costs which amounted to 
Rs. 133 Mn for the year. (2013 - Rs. 76 Mn) 
largely due to funding of the Synthetic 
leather manufacturing business and an 
investment in a non-income generating 

property asset previously owned by a 
subsidiary, Kelsey Homes. The Company’s 
short-term borrowings increased to fund 
its investments but is expected to improve 
on completion of the company’s Rs. 1 Bn 
listed debenture issue in July 2014.

The Company’s Net equity at Rs. 823 Mn 
is marginally lower than that of the previous 
year. (2013 - Rs. 946 Mn.)

In June 2014, post balance sheet date, a 
gazetted Acquisition Order was received 
from the Divisional Secretary Nuwara 
Eliya, in respect of the property situated 
at Upper Lake Road, Nuwara Eliya which 
had previously been acquired from Kelsey 
Developments PLC. We are currently 
unable to assess the financial impact of 
this acquisition order on the Group and the 
time-scale within which compensation will 
be received and consequently your Board 
of Directors is unable to determine whether 
any adjustments would be necessary to 
the amounts reported in the Financial 
Statements in respect of the Investment 
Property, Net Profit and Retained Earnings 
as of 31 March 2014.

financial services
For the financial year 2013/14, First 
Capital Holdings PLC recorded gross 
turnover of Rs. 1.82 Bn compared to  
Rs. 1.77 Bn the previous year. The growth 
in turnover was primarily due to the higher 
activity levels within the primary dealer 
unit and capitalisation of certain trading 
opportunities during the period under 
review.

Gains on sale of dealing securities 
contributed Rs. 218 Mn to net trading 
income. In the previous year, gains on sale 
of dealing securities had amounted to  
Rs. 299 Mn including a one-off gain of 
Rs. 195 Mn on the sale of investment 
securities. Net interest income from dealing 
securities, re-sale agreements and other 
income contributed Rs. 398 Mn compared 
with Rs. 294 Mn in the previous year.



Dunamis Capital PLC | Annual Report 2013/14
4

Consolidated profits after tax of  
Rs. 330 Mn for the year 2013/14 
reflected a decrease of 33% compared 
to the previous year. The year 2013/14 
was challenging in the absence of the 
extraordinary gains described above and 
with higher administrative overheads.

The group’s Primary dealer, First Capital 
Treasuries Limited which was able to hold 
strategic trading positions and benefit 
from the continuous reduction of CBSL 
policy rates, continued to be the largest 
contributor to both turnover and profits. 
The corporate debt capital markets 
offered healthier long term, fixed-rate 
borrowing opportunities to the corporate 
sector with the reduction in interest rates 
and prevailing tax exemptions for listed 
debt issues and First Capital Limited was 
able to maintain its prominent role in the 
structuring and placing of corporate debt 
for various listed and rated entities. The 
newly acquired stock broking division did 
not see adequate levels of trading during 
the period under review and margin trading 
operations were also stagnant.

First Capital Wealth Fund, a Unit Trust 
recorded growth in its volume of funds. It 
surpassed the Rs. 1 Bn milestone at the 
end of 2013/14 and declared Rs. 100/- 
per unit as dividend for the year and in 
2013/14 it was recognised as the best 
performing fixed income fund in Sri Lanka. 
Assets under management showed a 
slight improvement on the previous year. 
There was some increase in the trading 
of listed debt instruments though the 
general market appetite for trading this 
type of instrument remains low. It remains 
to be seen whether the continued tax 
exemptions and the larger volume of listed 
debt now on the market will stimulate this 
area of activity.

In March 2014, First Capital Holdings PLC 
issued Rs. 500 Mn in listed debentures. 
This has enhanced the strength of the 
entity’s long term funding base and 
reduced the company’s vulnerability to 
interest rate escalations.

ProPertY develoPMent
At Kelsey Developments PLC turnover 
declined to Rs. 95.6 Mn compared with 
the Rs. 231.5 Mn achieved the previous 
year. This was primarily due to the 
Company’s inability to consistently source 
high-quality lands for development as 
housing projects.

Profit after tax of Rs. 136 Mn were a 
substantial improvement against the loss 
of Rs. 55.4 Mn incurred in the previous 
financial year and consisted largely of a 
one-off realised capital gain of Rs. 177.3 Mn 
from the sale of a property in Nuwara Eliya 
where your company relinquished its rights 
in the property to its co-owner and ultimate 
parent Dunamis Capital PLC. This course of 
action became necessary as the property 
could not be developed in the ordinary 
course of business due to circumstances 
beyond the Company’s control. This gain 
although reflected at subsidiary level has no 
impact on the group consolidated results of 
your company.

Lower inventory levels following the 
disposal of the property in Nuwara Eliya 
resulted in finance costs reducing to 
Rs. 10.4 Mn compared to Rs. 45.4 Mn 
incurred in the previous year. Efficiently 
managed operating expenses were 
maintained at the same level as of that of 
the previous year.

In the year under review, the company 
concluded sales on its existing projects 
and launched a new project - Fairfield 
Gardens in Gampaha.

In the last quarter, the Company 
purchased a 6 acre property in Mount 
Lavinia for development as an exclusive 
gated community housing project. The 
project, “Templer’s Square” will consist of 
100 houses with facilities including 24 hour 
security, swimming pool, gymnasium and 
children’s play area. The initial response 
to this project has been extremely positive 
and encouraging, with revenue projected 
to be over Rs. 3 Bn over a 2 year period.

ManufacturinG
Last year, the company identified the 
potential to establish a high-end Synthetic 
leather manufacturing facility in Sri Lanka 
and during the year established an entity 
for this purpose, with a total investment 
of over Rs. 500 Mn in debt and equity. 
The production facility was set-up with 
overseas technical advice and state of 
the art imported machinery. Currently all 
synthetic leather available in Sri Lanka is 
imported and the market is fragmented. 
Registered as a BOI company, Premier 
Synthetic Leather Manufacturers (Private) 
Limited is the pioneer manufacturer of 
synthetic leather in Sri Lanka.

The Company was in its pre-operational 
phase in the year under review and 
incurred a loss of Rs. 23.7 Mn. Commercial 
production commenced subsequent to the 
reporting date.

the future
The Sri Lankan economy is expected to 
grow at a pace of 7.8% in 2014 on the 
back of a global recovery and a domestic 
macroeconomic environment conducive to 
growth, driven by the easing of the CBSL’s 
monetary policy stance.

At First Capital, the primary dealer will 
continue to adopt its strategy of effectively 
managing periodical trading opportunities, 
while maintaining an optimum level of 
trading stock. Interest and liquidity will 
be constantly reviewed to minimise risk 
exposure. With the renewed interest in 
the stock market and the indications so 
far are indeed encouraging, we expect to 
see an improvement in the performance 
of the stockbroking and margin trading 
units. The asset management unit is in the 
process of introducing a wider range of 
Unit trusts to meet the diversity of client 
requirements. The tax benefits available to 
investors in unit trusts continue to present 
opportunities for expansion. The company 
is also well positioned to accelerate 
its participation in the structuring and 

ManaGinG director’s review contd.
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placement of corporate debt securities 
where tax concessions have provided 
a conducive market for the listing of 
corporate debt securities.

Attractive long term lending rates offered 
by commercial banks in the country is
expected to stimulate demand in the
housing sector. Sales at Templer’s Square,
Mount Lavinia have exceeded expectations
and with almost 50% of the properties 
already reserved there is a reasonable 
expectation that all remaining homes will
be sold in the current financial year. The 
Company will renew its marketing efforts 
once model houses and common facilities 
are ready in September 2014. In the first
quarter of 2014, Riverfront Luxury
Bungalows was launched in Kaduwela and 
all lots were sold out within a week. This 
success is a validation of the strength of 
the product offering and Kelsey’s strong 
brand presence. Kelsey will continue to 
identify and capitalise on opportunities and 
has already identified properties to launch 
future housing projects in the financial year 
2014 / 2015.

Premier Synthetic Leather started trial 
production in April 2014, and commercial 
production and sales commenced in June. 
Synthetic leather is suitable as furniture 
and automotive upholstery and for use in 
the manufacture of shoes and bags. As 
the only manufacturer of Synthetic leather 
in Sri Lanka the Company expects to 
make significant inroads into this business 
and profitability in 2015/16.

Whilst financial services has remained the 
largest segment of the Group’s business
and has been the main driver of the Group’s
revenue and profitability, the Company’s 
investment in manufacturing is expected 
to make a significant contribution to 
profitability in the coming years. Kelsey 
which has not performed to expectations 
in previous years is now showing strong 
performance and is expected to be a worthy
contributor to the group’s bottom-line in 
2013/14.

In the forthcoming year the company will 
make limited investments in listed equity 
with the expectation of benefitting from an 
up turn in the stock market. It continues 
to seek sound long term investment 
opportunities in existing well managed 
businesses. The funds received from the 
Company’s listed debenture issue will 
stabilise borrowing rates and enable the 
Company to repay short term debt. Finance 
costs are expected to remain high as the 
company is burdened with financing its 
investment in the property in Nuwara Eliya, 
currently under an acquisition order and 
with no clear indication of the time scale 
within which compensation will be received 
and that of the resultant financial impact.

acKnowledGeMents
I wish to place on record my deep 
appreciation for the enduring support our 
group receives from our customers, our 
shareholders and other stakeholders and 
for the confidence and trust placed in us. 
We will continue to work towards meeting 
your expectations.

During the year we welcomed onto our 
Board Mr. Saliya Wickramasuriya, 
Director General of the Petroleum 
Resources Development Secretariat.  
Mr. Wickramasuriya previously served as 
Chairman/Director General of the Sri Lanka 
Board of Investment and as Chairman of 
the Sri Lanka Ports Authority. My fellow 
board members and I are delighted 
to have him join us and his insightful 
contributions have benefitted board 
deliberations.

In conclusion, I also wish to express my 
sincere gratitude to my colleagues who 
served with me on the Board in the past 
year, for being a source of discerning 
guidance, inestimable support and 
sincere encouragement, and I join them in 
conveying our appreciation and thanks to 
the management and staff of our group, 

for their dedication and efforts during 
the year and determination displayed in 
overcoming challenges and achieving this 
level of performance, in a difficult year.

(Sgd.)
Manjula Mathews
Managing Director

18 July 2014
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Mr. chandana l. de silva
FCA (England & Wales),  
FCA (Sri Lanka)
Independent, Non-Executive Director
Mr. Chandana de Silva has held several 
senior management positions including 
that of Chief Financial Officer for Level (3) 
Communications in Europe a NASDAQ 
quoted company and Head of Financial 
Planning for British Telecommunications 
PLC.

Since moving back to Sri Lanka in 2002 he 
has worked for MAS Holdings in a variety 
of roles and established the Supply Chain 
Management function, set up the MAS 
training centre and until December 2011 
was the Chief Executive Officer of the MAS 
Investment Division.

He continues to be a consultant to the 
MAS Group and is on the Board of MAS 
Investments (Private) Limited, Hemas 
Transportation (Private) Limited, Eureka 
Technologies (Private) Limited and       
Sea-Change Partners Lanka (Private) 
Limited. He also serves as a Director of 
Kelsey Developments PLC and Premier 
Synthetic Leather Manufacturers (Private) 
Limited, subsidiaries of Dunamis Capital 
PLC.

Mr. de Silva is a Fellow Member of the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants in 
England and Wales and in Sri Lanka 
and holds a Degree in Mathematics 
and Management from the University of 
London.

the Attorney General’s Department for over 
15 years. He has represented Sri Lanka 
at United Nations forums in Geneva and 
Vienna. He serves as the Chairman of 
the Awards Board of the Information and 
Communication Technology Agency of  
Sri Lanka - Capacity Building Programme. 

Mr. Rodrigo also serves as a Director 
of First Capital Holdings PLC, Kelsey 
Developments PLC and Premier Synthetic 
Leather Manufacturers (Private) Limited, 
subsidiaries of Dunamis Capital PLC.

Mr. eardleY Perera 
Chartered Marketer
Independent, Non-Executive Director
Mr. Perera is a Chartered Marketer and 
a Graduate of the Chartered Institute 
of Marketing UK, with over 40 years 
of experience in management. He has 
undergone management training in 
UK, Sweden, South Korea, India, the 
Philippines and Singapore.

Currently, he is the Non-Executive 
Chairman of M&E (Private) Limited and 
a Director of Keells Food Products PLC, 
Janashakthi Insurance PLC, ODEL PLC, 
Sting Consultants (Private) Limited, Brand 
Finance Lanka (Private) Limited and MAS 
Tropical Foods (Private) Limited. 
 
He also serves as a Director of First Capital 
Holdings PLC, Kelsey Developments 
PLC and Premier Synthetic Leather 
Manufacturers (Private) Limited, 
subsidiaries of Dunamis Capital PLC.
 
He is a Member on the Board of Study of 
the Postgraduate Institute of Management, 
University of Sri Jayewardenepura (PIM) 
and is actively engaged in management 
education and consultancy.

Ms. Manjula Mathews 
FCMA, MBA (University of 
Cambridge - UK)
Managing Director
Ms. Mathews brings to the Board over  
20 years experience in General 
Management and Finance, both in  
Sri Lanka and overseas. She currently 
serves as Managing Director of Dunamis 
Capital PLC and as a Director of other 
Dunamis subsidiaries.

Ms. Mathews was formerly the Finance 
Director at Janashakthi Insurance 
PLC, one of the leading insurers in the 
country where she continues to hold a 
Non-Executive position. She is a Fellow 
Member of the Chartered Institute of 
Management Accountants of UK and 
holds a Masters Degree in Business 
Administration from the University of 
Cambridge (UK).

Mr. dinesh schaffter 
ACMA, LLB (UK)
Joint Managing Director
Mr. Dinesh Schaffter counts over 20 years 
experience in the Financial Services and 
Manufacturing sectors. He currently serves 
as the Joint Managing Director of Dunamis 
Capital PLC, Managing Director of Kelsey 
Developments PLC, a subsidiary of 
Dunamis Capital PLC and as a Director of 
other Dunamis subsidiaries. Mr. Schaffter 
is an Associate Member of the Chartered 
Institute of Management Accountants (UK), 
and holds a Bachelor of Law - Honours 
Degree (LLB) from the United Kingdom. 

Mr. nihara e. rodriGo
President’s Counsel
Independent, Non-Executive Director
Mr. Rodrigo’s professional career spans of 
over 30 years is enriched with diversified 
expertise and experience in various fields 
including different aspects of law and 
e-commerce. Mr. Rodrigo has served in 

Board of directors
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Mr. saliYa wicKraMasuriYa 
(BSc. (Hons.) Degree in Engineering 
Physics)
Independent, Non-Executive Director
Mr. Wickramasuriya, a physicist by training, 
joined the upstream oil and gas industry 
in 1984, working for Schlumberger, the 
world’s largest petroleum service company. 
Following 12 years on rigs as a Wireline 
Field Engineer, he held training, operations 
management, product development and 
marketing positions in the North Sea, 
Middle East, USA and West Africa. 

He was appointed as Chairman/Director 
General of the Sri Lanka Board of 
Investment in 2004, and has served as 
Chairman of the Sri Lanka Ports Authority 
and is currently Director General of the 
Petroleum Resources Development 
Secretariat, an institution tasked with 
developing the country’s emerging oil and 
gas industry.

Mr. Wickramasuriya holds a BSc. (Hons.) 
Degree in Engineering Physics from 
Loughborough University UK, and through 
his various assignments, possesses 
extensive experience in a spectrum of 
technical and marketing disciplines as well 
as areas of strategy and national policy 
development.
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risK ManaGeMent

The Board assumes overall responsibility for the assessment and management of risk and for reviewing the effectiveness of the Group’s risk 
management and internal control systems. The Group’s diversified nature of business lines accentuates Risk management a mission critical 
component of strategy. The assumption of risk underpins the pursuit of profit and we as an organisation define our success by our ability 
to identify and exploit the opportunities generated by our business lines and the markets we operate in. Our approach to risk  management 
is designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that our assets are safeguarded, the risks facing the business are being 
assessed and mitigated and all information that may be required to be disclosed is reported to the senior management. The Enterprise Risk 
Management Framework has been set up to identify and manage risks in order to ensure continuous value creation via assessment of key 
business risks and the monitoring of key performance indicators.

The risk management structure of the Group begins with oversight by the Board of Directors. The Board regularly reviews the areas of risk 
including consideration of environmental and governance matters, and retains responsibility for determining the risk appetite the Company 
should possess to achieve its strategic objectives. The Company Boards, advised by Committees where appropriate, regularly review the 
significant risk and decisions that could have a material impact on the Company. These reviews consider the level of risk that Dunamis 
Capital PLC is prepared to take in pursuit of the business strategy and the effectiveness of the management controls in place to mitigate the 
risk exposure.

In the following table we identify the risk that we regard as most relevant to our business model. We have also commented on certain 
mitigating actions that we believe assist us in managing these risks. If the circumstances in these risks occur or are not successfully 
mitigated, our cash flow, operating results, financial position and reputation could be adversely affected.

identified risk Mitigation Measures

investMent risK
The Company’s strategic investment choices will affect the long-term 
growth and profits of our business.

Its growth and profitability are determined by our portfolio of diversified 
investments and how these evolve over time. If Dunamis Capital PLC 
does not make optimal strategic investment decisions, opportunities for 
growth and improved margin could be compromised. 

Our range of strategies and our business plans are designed to 
ensure that resources are prioritised towards those investment 
categories and markets having the greatest long-term potential for 
Dunamis Capital PLC.

Our acquisitions are driven by our investment portfolio strategy 
with a clear, defined evaluation process.

rePutation risK
The Company’s Corporate image in the market is a vital factor for the 
sustainability of the businesses in terms of stakeholder value, customer 
and investor confidence and consequently Group earnings.

Reputational risk arises from the negative effects of environmental 
damages, customer perception, public opinion, etc. 

Constant service level reviews, proactive responses to customer 
feedback act as proactive lines to mitigate reputational risks.

interest rate risK
Adverse movement in interest rates, will affect our income or the value 
of our portfolios.

Financial models have been developed with projections to 
make informed decisions on interest movements (for instance, a 
sensitivity analysis showing impacts on interest rates fluctuations).

liquiditY risK
The Company may face liquidity risk (i.e. difficulty in meeting its 
obligations) associated with its financial obligations. A material and 
sustained shortfall in our cash flow could undermine the Company’s 
credit rating, impair investor confidence and also restrict its ability to 
raise funds.

The overall funding strategy is planned annually taking into 
consideration both timing and size of business and investment 
together with the various sources of funding.

foreiGn exchanGe risK
Adverse movements and fluctuations in foreign exchange rates against 
the domestic currency could affect the Group’s pricing strategy, 
especially the cost model of its manufacturing arm.

Exchange rate movements are constantly monitored for currencies 
in which the Group carries exposure.
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identified risk Mitigation Measures
leGal and reGulatorY risK
Compliance with laws and regulations is an essential part of Group’s 
business operations specially the financial arm.

Failure to comply with laws and regulations could expose the Group 
to civil and/or criminal actions leading to damages or fines against us 
and/or our employees with possible consequences for our corporate 
reputation.

Changes to laws and regulations could have a material impact on the 
cost of doing business. 

The Group is committed to complying with the laws and 
regulations applicable for each business line which it operates in.

Our legal and regulatory specialists heavily involve in monitoring 
and reviewing our practices to provide reasonable assurance that 
we remain aware of and in line with all relevant laws and legal 
obligations.

PeoPle and talent
A skilled workforce is essential for the continued success of our 
business. Our ability to attract, develop and retain the right number of 
right people is critical if we are to compete and grow effectively.

The loss of management or other key personnel or the inability to 
identify, attract and retain qualified personnel could make it difficult 
to manage the business and could adversely affect operations and 
financial results. 

We have an integrated management development process 
which includes regular performance appraisals underpinned by a 
common set of leadership behaviours, skills and competencies.

We have targeted programmes to retain top talent and we actively 
monitor our performance in retaining talent within the Group.

Process and oPerational risK
Operational Risk is the risk of losses resulting from inadequate or 
failed internal processes, people, and systems or from external events 
impacting such processes.

Extensive on-going training is provided to ensure that the staff is 
fully aware of their responsibility for complying with the correct 
operational procedures in order to optimise operational efficiency 
and individual accountability at all levels of the Group.

sYsteM and inforMation risK
Our operations are increasingly dependent on IT systems and the 
management of information, hence a greater emphasis on the need 
for secure and reliable IT systems and infrastructure and careful 
management of the information that is in our possession.

Disruption of our IT systems could inhibit our business operations in 
a number of ways, including disruption to sales, production and cash 
flows, ultimately impacting our results.

We have policies covering the protection of both business and 
personal information, as well as the use of IT systems and 
applications by our employees. Our employees are trained to 
understand these requirements.

suPPlY chain risK
Disruptions to the resource supply chain and adverse dependencies 
and concentration to suppliers, could adversely affect the Group’s 
sustainability, specifically in the real estate and the manufacturing 
operations of the group.

In order to ensure the smooth functioning of the business 
operations and as a risk management measure to diversify 
sourcing risk the following is in place ;

•  Testing product quality control for effectiveness and 
reviewing key suppliers periodically to ensure they meet the 
rigorous quality standards.

•  Expanding and balancing the supplier portfolio and 
developing closer relationships and minimise dependencies.

• Identifying and assessing macro environmental risk that 
impact the supply chain of the group.

credit risK
Credit risk is the possibility of losses resulting from the failure or 
unwillingness of a borrower or counter party to meet the contractual 
obligations to the Group.

The Group ensures that the credit decisions are made on 
a rational basis, in accordance with approved policies and 
procedures. Credit customers are subject to a credit analysis 
before establishing business relationships.

Particularly in the case of large customers, the Group pays 
attention to the completeness and adequacy of information about 
them and the officers closely monitor events affecting them and 
their performance on an ongoing basis, regardless of whether or 
not the customer is meeting his/her obligations.



Dunamis Capital PLC | Annual Report 2013/14
10

huMan resource develoPMent

We pride ourselves on the skills, 
dedication and commitment of our work 
force. Service excellence remains at the 
heart of the organisation and over the 
years relationships between our team 
members and customers has grown and 
strengthened to form lasting bonds of 
loyalty.

It is the collective dynamism and enterprise 
of our employees that has enabled us to 
overcome challenges and to drive forward 
new opportunities. A commitment towards 
maintaining the highest standards of 
professional excellence has resulted in 
overall sustained customer satisfaction.

The dynamic recruitment process 
currently in place, effectively meets the 
evolving needs of the progressive group. 
A comfortable and rewarding working 
environment has resulted in a high level 
of staff retention. Staff training and 
development is accorded a high priority 
and in the year under review, a significant 
number of staff members attended training 
programs. Regular appraisal and feedback 
on performance are linked to a reward 
structure which ensures a high level of 
employee motivation and performance.

All employees and their immediate families 
are provided medical insurance cover 
and a comprehensive health check-up is 
undertaken for all employees each year. 
The Group has an active Staff Guild that 
organises bi-annual events that foster 
team spirit and encourage interaction 
beyond the scope of day to day duties. 
Active participation by all employees 
ensures entertaining events that provide 
a welcome respite from the pressures of 
work.

GrouP - corPorate/ senior ManaGeMent and aBove - qualifications

discipline/ field dPq dq Pq al total

Accounting, Finance & Business   8 -   8 2 18

Law   - -   2 -   2

Engineering   2 -   - -   2

total 10 - 10 2 22

DPQ - Degree and Professional Qualifications 
DQ - Degree Qualifications 
PQ - Professional Qualifications 
AL - GCE Advanced Level

GrouP - service analYsis includinG directors as at 31 March 2014

service (Years) senior/ corporate 
Management

operational executives other total

20 & Above   1   -   1   1   3

16 to 20   -   1   1   1    3

11 to 15   1   2   4   2    9

6 to 10   8   3 13   2   26

5 & below 12 19 46 60 137

total 22 25 65 66 178
     
Average service of employees as at 31 March 2014 was 4 years.
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GrouP - traininG analYsis

skills   2013/14

Personal development programmes   26

IT Knowledge and skills     3

Job related technical skills and professional training   88

total 117
 
65% of staff attended training programmes during the year.

GrouP - staff aGe analYsis includinG directors as at 31 March 2014

age Group  2013/14

19 - 30   80

31 - 40   54

41 - 50   21

51 & above   23

total 178

GrouP - sector analYsis as at 31 March 2014

sector 2013/14 2012/13

Financial services 86 57

Property development 26 23

Manufacturing 56 -

Other 10 6

total 178 86
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GrouP structure

dunaMis caPital Plc

KelseY 
develoPMents Plc 

69.54%

KelseY hoMes 
liMited 100%

KelseY ProPertY 
develoPers (Private) 

liMited 100%

first caPital 
holdinGs Plc

70.15%

first caPital 
liMited 
99.90%

first caPital 
treasuries liMited 

94.44%

first caPital 
asset ManaGeMent 

liMited 98.70%

first caPital 
MarKets liMited 

100%

first caPital 
investMents (Private) 

liMited 70%

first caPital 
equities (Private) 

liMited 100%

PreMier sYnthetic 
leather 

Manufacturers 
(Private) liMited 

100%
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first caPital holdinGs Plc
First Capital Holdings PLC together with 
its subsidiaries represents the financial 
services arm of Dunamis Capital PLC. 
The Company’s subsidiaries include First 
Capital Treasuries Limited, an authorised 
primary dealer in government securities, 
First Capital Markets Limited, a margin 
provider for listed securities, First Capital 
Limited, a specialist debt structuring 
intermediary and corporate finance 
specialist, First Capital Equities (Private)  
Limited, a stockbroker licensed by the 
Colombo Stock Exchange and First 
Capital Asset Management Limited, a 
licensed investment manager and a Unit 
Trust managing company.

KelseY develoPMents Plc
The principal activities of the group’s 
active subsidiaries namely Kelsey Property 
Developers (Private) Limited and Kelsey 
Homes Limited are the construction, 
development and sale of lands, quality 
residential houses and apartments and the 
development and sale of land plots.

PreMier sYnthetic leather 
Manufacturers (Private) 
liMited
Premier Synthetic Leather Manufacturers 
(PSL) specialises in the manufacture of 
synthetic leather and was setup in 2013 
in keeping with the parent company’s 
strategic thrust to ignite value in an 
untouched industrial sector.

The Company has pioneered the 
manufacture of high quality synthetic 
leather in Sri Lanka, using advanced 
technology and state of the art machinery. 
Sri Lanka has always imported high 
quality artificial leather initially from Europe 
and subsequently from the Far East and 
South Asian countries for the purposes 
of upholstery, apparel, furnishing and 
footwear industries. PSL will cater to this 
market with exceptional quality locally 
manufactured synthetic leather. The 
products manufactured by PSL will enable 
local industries to compete with and be 
comparable to imports of the highest 
standard. The Company has just entered 
into commercial production.
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financial calendar 2013/14
    
interim financial reports in terms of listing rule 8.3 of the colombo stock exchange (cse) 
were issued as follows:

reports date of reLease 
1st Quarter 2013/2014 Interim Financial Report (Unaudited) 15 August 2013
2nd Quarter 2013/2014 Interim Financial Report (Unaudited) 15 November 2013
3rd Quarter 2013/2014 Interim Financial Report (Unaudited) 13 February 2014
4th Quarter 2013/2014 Interim Financial Report (Unaudited) 28 May 2014
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annual rePort of the Board of directors

The Directors of Dunamis Capital PLC 
have pleasure in presenting their Annual 
Report together with the Audited Financial 
Statements for the year ended 31 March 
2014 which were approved by the Board 
on 18 July 2014.

review of operations
The Group reported Rs. 125 Mn which
was considerably less than the 
Rs. 340 Mn reported in the previous 
year. A more comprehensive review of 
the operations of the Company during 
the financial year and the results of those 
operations are contained in the Managing 
Director’s Review on pages 3 to 5 of 
the Annual Report. This report forms an 
integral part of the Directors’ Report.

principaL activities
The Company manages a portfolio 
of investments consisting of different 
business operations, which together 
constitute the Dunamis Group. The 
corporate office provides function based 
services to its subsidiaries and associate 
companies.

LegaL status
Dunamis Capital PLC was incorporated 
in 1985 under the provisions of the 
Companies Act, No. 17 of 1982 and  
re-registered under the Companies Act, 
No. 7 of 2007 on 15 August 2007. In 1986 
the Company was listed on the Colombo 
Stock Exchange.

financiaL resuLts
The Group’s net profit after tax was  
Rs. 125 Mn compared with net profit after 
tax of Rs. 340 Mn in the previous year.  

A summary of the financial results for the year is set out below. 

2013/14
rs.‘000

2012/13
rs.‘000

revenue 1,801,103 1,938,072

Profit before tax 211,242 362,879

Income tax expenses (85,750) (22,456)

Profit after tax 125,492 340,423

Attributable to equity holders of the parent 101,832 236,126

Non-controlling interests 23,660 104,297

total 125,492 340,423

The financial statements of the Company are set out in pages 24 to 67 of the Annual 
Report.

directors’ responsibiLity for financiaL reporting
The Directors’ responsibility in relation to the financial statements is detailed under the 
Statement of Directors’ responsibility on page 19 of the Annual Report.

directorate
The following were the Directors of the Company as at 31 March 2014.
1. Ms. Manjula Mathews
2. Mr. Dinesh Schaffter
3. Mr. Nihara E. Rodrigo
4. Mr. A.D.E.I. Perera
5. Mr. Chandana L. de Silva
6. Mr. R. Saliya A.W. Wickramasuriya

The profiles of the Directors are given on pages 6 to 7 of the Annual Report.

Directors and their shareholdings as at 31 March 2014 were as follows: 

no. of shares
31.03.2014

no. of shares
31.03.2013

Ms. Manjula Mathews 26,003,365 26,003,365 

Mr. Dinesh Schaffter 20,274,918 20,274,918

Mr. Nihara E. Rodrigo 13,000 13,000 

Mr. A.D.E.I. Perera nil Nil

Mr. Chandana L. de Silva nil Nil

Mr. R. Saliya A.W. Wickramasuriya nil Nil

retirement by rotation and re-eLection
Mr. Nihara E. Rodrigo retires by rotation in terms of Article 90 and being eligible offers 
himself for re-election. The continuing Directors recommend his re-election.

Mr. Dinesh Schaffter, Director of the Company was appointed Joint Managing Director of 
Dunamis Capital PLC with effect from 6 March 2014.

The Director appointed during the year Mr. R. Saliya A.W. Wickramasuriya retires in terms 
of Article 97 and being eligible, offer himself for re-election.
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reLated party transactions
Related party transactions have been 
declared at meetings of the Directors and 
are detailed in Note 41 to the financial 
statements.

directors’ interest 
As required by the Companies Act,  
No. 7 of 2007, an Interests Register was 
maintained by the Company during the 
period under review. Directors have made 
declarations as provided for in 
Section 192 (2) of the Companies Act. The 
Interests Register is available for inspection 
as required under the Companies Act.

The Company carries out transactions 
in the ordinary course of business with 
entities in which a Director of the Company 
is a Director. The transactions with entities 
where a Director of the Company has 
control or exercises significant influence 
have been classified as related party 
transactions where appropriate and 
disclosed in Note 41 to the financial 
statements.

remuneration and fees
Details of Directors’ remuneration and 
fees are set out in Note 12 to the financial 
statements. All fees and remuneration 
have been duly approved by the Board of 
Directors of the Company.

risk and internaL controL
The Board of Directors is satisfied 
itself that there exists an effective and 
comprehensive system of internal controls 
to monitor, control and manage the risks 
to which the Company is exposed, to carry 
on its business in an orderly manner, to 
safeguard its assets and to secure as far 
as possible the reliability and accuracy of 
records.
 
corporate governance
The Directors acknowledge their 
responsibility for the Group’s corporate 
governance and the system of internal 

control. The Directors are responsible 
to the shareholders for providing 
strategic direction to the Company 
and safeguarding the assets of the 
Company. The Board is satisfied with 
the effectiveness of the system of 
internal control for the period up to the 
date of signing the financial statements.  
Compliance with recommended Corporate 
Governance practices are disclosed in 
pages 20 to 21 of the Annual Report.

The performance of the Company is 
evaluated at regular review meetings. 
These meetings provide an opportunity to 
ensure that progress is in line with agreed 
targets. Regular Board meetings are held 
to further strengthen the review process 
and ensure compliance with all statutory 
and regulatory obligations.

dividends
The Board of Directors declared an interim 
dividend of Rs. 1/- per share totalling  
Rs. 122.99 Mn for the year 2013/14. No 
final dividend was recommended.

significant accounting 
poLicies
The accounting policies adopted in the 
preparation of the financial statements 
are given on pages 29 to 38. There were 
no changes in the accounting policies 
adopted by the Company during the year 
under review.

going concern
The Board of Directors has reviewed 
the Company’s business plans and is 
satisfied that the Company has adequate 
resources to continue its operations in 
the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the 
financial statements are prepared on a 
going concern basis.

capitaL expenditure
Details of property, plant and equipment 
and their movements during the year 
are given in Note 17 to the financial 
statements.

property, pLant and 
equipment 
Details of movements in property, plant 
and equipment of the Group during the 
year are set out in Note 17 to the financial 
statements.

reserves
The movements in profits and reserves 
during the financial year 2013/14 have 
been presented in the Statement of 
Changes in Equity on page 26 to the 
financial statements.

income tax expenses
Income tax expenses have been 
computed in accordance with the 
provisions of the Inland Revenue Act No. 
10 of 2006 and subsequent amendments 
thereto as disclosed in Note 13 to the 
financial statements.

stated capitaL
The stated capital of the Company as 
at 31 March 2014 was Rs. 445.9 Mn 
consisting of 122,997,050 ordinary shares.

share information and 
substantiaL sharehoLders
As at 31 March 2014, there were 2,722 
registered shareholders. Share information 
and the twenty largest shareholders as at 
31 March 2014 are listed in pages 
68 to 69 of the Annual Report.

Information relating to market value of a 
share and information on share trading is 
stated under Shareholder and Investors’ 
information on page 68 of the Annual 
Report.

corporate donations
During the year under review, the Group 
made charitable donations of Rs. 1 Mn.
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statutory payments and 
compLiance with Laws and 
reguLations
The Directors, to the best of their 
knowledge and belief are satisfied 
that all statutory payments due to the 
Government and in relation to employees 
have been made on time, and that neither 
the Company nor its subsidiaries has 
engaged in any activity contravening laws 
and regulations.

equaL opportunities
The Group is committed to providing 
equal opportunities to all employees 
irrespective of their gender, marital 
status, age, religion, race or disability. It 
is the Group’s policy to give full and fair 
consideration to persons, with respect to 
applications for employment, continued 
employment, training, career development 
and promotion, having regard for each 
individual’s particular aptitudes and 
abilities.

events occurring after the 
reporting date
There were no material events occurring 
after the financial reporting date which 
requires an adjustment to or a disclosure 
in the financial statements, other than 
as disclosed in Note 46 to the financial 
statements.

independent auditors
The Company’s Auditors during the 
period under review were Messrs KPMG, 
Chartered Accountants. The fees paid to 
auditors are disclosed in Note 12 to the 
financial statements.

Based on the declaration from Messrs 
KPMG, Chartered Accountants, and as far 
as the Directors are aware, the Auditors do 
not have any relationship or interest in the 
Company or its subsidiaries, other than as 
disclosed in the above paragraph.

Messrs KPMG, Chartered Accountants, 
have expressed their willingness to 
continue in office as Auditors of the 
Company for the ensuing year.

In accordance with the Companies Act, 
No. 7 of 2007, a resolution proposing the  
re-appointment of Messrs KPMG, 
Chartered Accountants, as Auditors to the 
Company will be submitted at the Annual 
General Meeting.

independent auditor’s report
The Independent Auditor’s report on the 
financial statements is given on page 23 of 
the Annual Report.

auditor’s right to 
information
Each person who is a Director of the 
Company at the date of approval of this 
report confirms that:

	 As far as each Director is aware, 
there is no relevant audit information 
of which the Company’s Auditors are 
unaware.

		Each Director has taken all the 
steps that he or she ought to have 
taken as a Director to make him or 
herself aware of any relevant audit 
information and to establish that the 
Company’s Auditors are aware of 
that information.

annuaL generaL meeting
The 29th Annual General Meeting of the 
Company will be held on 27 August 2014. 
The notice convening the meeting and the 
agenda are given on page 73.

This Annual Report is signed for and on 
behalf of the Board.

(Sgd.) 
Manjula Mathews 
Managing Director

(Sgd.)
dinesh schaffter
Joint Managing Director

18 July 2014
Colombo

annual rePort of the Board of directors contd.
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stateMent of directors’ resPonsiBilitY

Set out below are the responsibilities of 
the Directors in relation to the Financial 
Statements of the Company.

The Directors of the Company are 
responsible for ensuring that the Company 
and its subsidiaries keep proper books 
of accounts of all the transactions and 
prepare and present financial statements 
to the shareholders in accordance with 
the relevant provisions of the Companies 
Act, No. 7 of 2007 and other statutes 
which are applicable in the preparation 
of financial statements. The financial 
statements comprise of the Statement of 
Financial Position as at 31 March 2014, 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income, 
Statement of Changes in Equity, Statement 
of Cash Flows for the year ended and 
Notes thereto. The Directors are required 
to prepare these financial statements on a 
going concern basis unless such basis is 
not considered appropriate.

The Directors confirm that the financial 
statements of the Company and the Group 
give a true and fair view of :

		the state of affairs of the Company 
as at 31 March 2014 and

		the profit and loss of the Company 
and its subsidiaries for the financial 
year then ended.

The financial statements of the Company 
and its subsidiaries for the year ended  
31 March 2014 incorporated in this report 
have been prepared in accordance with 
the Companies Act, No. 7 of 2007, the  
Sri Lanka Accounting Standards  
(LKASs/SLFRSs) and Listing Rules of the 
Colombo Stock Exchange.

The financial statements of the Company 
and the Group have been certified by the 
Finance Manager of the Company who is 
responsible for the preparation of financial 
statements as required by the Companies 
Act, No. 7 of 2007. 

The financial statements have been signed 
by two Directors on 18 July 2014 in 
accordance with Section 150 (1) (c) and 
152 (1) (c) of the Companies Act.

Directors are also responsible for 
ensuring that proper accounting records 
which correctly record and explain 
the Company’s transactions and also 
determine the Company’s financial position 
with reasonable accuracy at any time are 
maintained by the Company enabling the 
preparation of financial statements and 
further enabling the financial statements 
to be readily and properly audited, in 
accordance with the Section 148 (1) of 
the Companies Act. The Directors have 
therefore caused the Company and its 
subsidiaries to maintain proper books of 
accounts and regularly review financial 
reports at their meetings. The Board also 
reviews and approves all interim financial 
statements prior to their release.

The Board of Directors accepts the 
responsibility for the integrity and 
objectivity of the financial statements 
presented. The Directors confirm that the 
financial statements have been prepared 
using appropriate Accounting Policies on a 
consistent basis and appropriate estimates 
and judgments made to reflect the true 
substance and form of transactions.

Directors have taken reasonable measures 
to safeguard the assets of the Company 
and its subsidiaries and to prevent and 
detect frauds and other irregularities. In 
this regard, the Directors have laid down 
effective and comprehensive internal 
control systems.

The Auditors of the Company, Messrs 
KPMG, Chartered Accountants, who 
were reappointed in accordance with 
a resolution passed at the last Annual 
General Meeting were provided with all 
necessary information required by them 
in order to carry out their audit and to 
express an opinion which is contained on 
page 23 of this Annual Report.

The Directors confirm that to the best of 
their knowledge, all statutory payments 
due in respect of the Company and its 
subsidiaries as at the financial reporting 
date have been paid or where relevant 
provided for.

Directors further confirm that after 
considering the financial position, 
operating conditions and regulatory 
and other factors, the Directors have a 
reasonable expectation that the Company 
possesses adequate resources to continue 
in operation for the foreseeable future and 
that the Going Concern basis is the most 
appropriate in the preparation of these 
financial statements.

(Sgd.)
K h l corporate services limited
Secretaries

18 July 2014
Colombo 
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corPorate Governance

The Directors acknowledge their 
responsibility for the Company’s corporate 
governance and the need to ensure the 
highest standards of accountability to all 
stakeholders. 

Dunamis Capital PLC is fully committed 
to the principles of good governance 
and recognises that good corporate 
governance is the corner-stone of a 
successful organisation.

The Company is committed to act with 
integrity, transparency and fairness in all of 
its dealings, and considerable emphasis is 
placed by the Board on the development 
of systems, processes and procedures to 
ensure the maintenance of high standards 
throughout the organisation.

The Board comprises of four Non-Executive 
Independent Directors and two Executive 
Directors all of whom possess a broad 
range of skills and experience across a 
range of industries and functional areas. 
Detailed profiles of each member of the 
Board are provided in a separate section 
of this Annual Report. (pages 6 to 7)

The Board meets frequently in order to 
ensure the effective discharge of its duties. 
Formal board meetings were held five 
times during the year and performance 
review meetings were held monthly at 
which a majority of directors were present.

The Board reviews strategic and 
operational issues, approves interim and 
annual financial statements and annual 
budgets, assesses performance and 
ensures compliance with all statutory and 
regulatory obligations. Members of the 
Board are expected to attend the Annual 
General Meeting of shareholders, board 
and review meetings. Material is provided 
to members of the board well in advance 
of scheduled meetings to allow adequate 
time for review and familiarisation and to 
facilitate decision making at meetings. 

Necessary advice and guidance are 
provided to the senior management team 
at monthly performance review meetings 
which provide an opportunity to evaluate 
progress and ensure accountability of the 
senior management team.  

A strong focus on training and career 
development has created a committed 
and empowered workforce who continues 
to generate value and drive the company 
towards high standards of achievement. 
 
The Directors are responsible for the 
formulation of the Company’s business 
strategy and in ensuring the existence of 
an adequate risk management framework. 
The Non-Executive Directors bring 
independent judgment to bear on issues 
of strategy and performance. The Board 
is satisfied with the effectiveness of the 
system of internal control in the Company 
for the period up to the date of signing the 
Financial Statements. 

The Board holds responsibility for ensuring 
that the senior management team 
possesses the relevant skills and expertise 
required in the management of the 
Company and that a suitable succession 
planning strategy is in place. Directors 
also ensure adherence to laws and 
regulations pertaining to the functioning 
of the organisation. The Finance Manager 
functions as the Compliance Officer to 
ensure compliance with all regulatory 
and statutory requirements and proper 
reporting of all compliance matters to the 
Board. 

The Company has four Non-Executive 
Directors on its board, which meets the 
requirements of Rule 7.10.1 (a). which 
requires the Board of Directors to comprise 
of at least, two Non-Executive Directors or 
such number of Non-Executive Directors 
equivalent to one third of the total number 
of Directors whichever is higher. The 
Company has four Independent  
Non-Executive Directors on its Board, 

which meets the requirements of Rule 
7.10.2 (a). This requires two or one third 
of Non-Executive Directors appointed to 
the Board of Directors, whichever is higher 
to be independent.
 
The Independent Non-Executive Directors 
on the Board, Mr. Nihara Rodrigo, 
Mr. Eardley Perera, Mr. Chandana de 
Silva and Mr. Saliya Wickramasuriya 
have submitted declarations of their 
independence.  Mr. Rodrigo, Mr. Eardley 
Perera and Mr. Chandana de Silva do not 
qualify as independent against the criteria 
set out in the Listing Rules as they are 
directors of other companies in which 
a majority of the other directors of the 
Company are employed or are directors. 
However, the Board is of the opinion that 
this does not affect their independence as 
they do not have a business relationship or 
a significant shareholding in either Dunamis 
Capital PLC or other subsidiary companies 
of which they are directors.

The Remuneration Committee consists 
of two Non-Executive Directors namely, 
Mr. Eardley Perera as the Chairman 
and Mr. Nihara Rodrigo as a member. 
The committee is dedicated to ensuring 
accountability, transparency and fairness 
in reward structures that recognise the 
relationship between performance and 
reward. The committee operates under 
delegated authority from the Board and 
is responsible for setting the company’s 
remuneration policy and for ensuring its 
continued ability to attract and retain high 
calibre candidates. 
 
The Company bases remuneration on 
both individual and company performance 
whilst paying due regard to staff retention. 
The committee recommends increment 
levels and determines the remuneration 
payable to the Executive Directors. 

The Audit Committee comprises of two 
Non-Executive directors namely  
Mr. Chandana de Silva as the Chairman 
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and Mr. Nihara Rodrigo. The committee 
met five times up to the date of approval 
of the financial statements. The 
Committee reviews all reports issued by 
the Company’s internal auditors and the 
management letter issued by the external 
auditors. Adequate follow-up actions 
are initiated on audit recommendations 
to ensure that there is a continuous 
strengthening of internal processes and 
controls.  

Messrs KHL Corporate Services Limited 
serve as the Company Secretaries for 
Dunamis Capital PLC. The Company 
Secretaries ensure compliance with 
Board procedures, the Companies 
Act, Regulations of the Securities and 
Exchange Commission of Sri Lanka and 
the Colombo Stock Exchange regulations.  
The Company Secretaries keep the Board 
informed of relevant new regulations and 
requirements.

(Sgd.)
niwani Perera 
Finance Manager

(Sgd.)
Manjula Mathews
Managing Director 
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audit coMMittee rePort

composition
The Audit Committee of Dunamis Capital 
PLC has oversight over Dunamis Capital 
PLC and selected subsidiaries including 
the listed entity Kelsey Developments PLC 
and its subsidiaries. The Audit Committee is 
comprised of two Independent Non-Executive 
Directors of the Company and is chaired by 
Mr. Chandana L. De Silva.

The other member of the Board appointed 
Audit Committee is Mr. Nihara E. Rodrigo.

Mr. De Silva is a Fellow of the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants of England and 
Wales and in Sri Lanka and holds a degree 
in Mathematics and Management from the 
University of London. He possesses wide 
experience in the finance field and has 
served in leading companies in the UK and 
Sri Lanka.    

Mr. Rodrigo’s professional career spans 
over 30 years with diverse expertise in 
fields including different aspects of law and 
e-commerce.

meetings
Five audit committee meetings were 
held during the financial year 2013/14. 
The Managing Director, Joint Managing 
Director, Finance Manager and External 
Auditors have attended the meetings by 
invitation. The proceedings of the Audit 
Committee meetings are reported to the 
Board of Directors on a regular basis.

functions
The primary function of the Committee is 
to assist the Board in fulfilling its oversight 
responsibilities, primarily through:

 reviewing quarterly accounts and  
Management’s conduct of the 
Group’s financial reporting process 
and systems of internal accounting 
and financial controls;

 monitoring the independence and 
performance of the Group’s external 
auditors; and

 providing an avenue of 
communication among the external 
auditors,  Management and the 
Board.

financiaL reporting system
The Committee reviewed the financial 
reporting system adopted by the Company 
with particular reference to the following;

 the preparation, presentation and 
adequacy of the disclosures in 
the company’s annual and interim 
financial statements in accordance 
with the Sri Lanka Accounting 
Standards, the Companies Act, 
No. 7 of 2007 and other applicable 
statutes.

 the rationale and basis for the 
significant estimates and judgments 
underlying the financial statements.

internaL audit
The Company’s Internal Audit function has 
been outsourced to Messrs B.R.De Silva 
& Co. control weaknesses highlighted in 
the internal audit reports were examined 
by the Committee and follow up actions 
taken by the management based on the 
audit recommendations were reviewed. 
The Committee reviewed the effectiveness 
of the internal audit function and the scope 
and procedures for internal audit during 
the ensuing year.

externaL audit
The External Auditor’s management letter 
pertaining to the previous year’s audit 
and the management’s response thereto 
were discussed during the year. Follow 
up actions were taken by management 
to ensure that the recommendations 
contained in the management letter were 
implemented was reviewed. Further, 
the draft annual financial statements for 
2013/14 were also reviewed with the 
External Auditors prior to release. 

The Committee reviewed the non-audit 
services provided by the auditors to ensure 
that the provision of these services does 
not impair their independence.

The fees payable to the Auditors were 
recommended by the Committee to the 
Board for approval.

The Audit Committee has further 
recommended to the Board of 
Directors that Messrs KPMG, Chartered 
Accountants,  be reappointed as Auditors 
for the financial year ending 31 March 
2015, subject to the approval of the 
shareholders at the Annual General 
Meeting.  

(Sgd.)
chandana l. de silva
Chairperson - Audit Committee

18 July 2014
Colombo
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indePendent auditor’s rePort

to the shrehoLders of 
dunamis capitaL pLc
report on the financial 
statements
We have audited the accompanying 
financial statements of Dunamis Capital 
PLC (“the Company”) and the consolidated 
financial statements of the Company 
and its subsidiaries (“the Group”), which 
comprise the statements of financial 
position as at 31 March 2014, the 
statements of comprehensive income, 
changes in equity and cash flows for the 
year then ended, and notes, comprising a 
summary of significant accounting policies 
and other explanatory information set out 
on pages 24 to 67 of the annual report.

Management’s responsibility for 
the financial statements
Management is responsible for the 
preparation and fair presentation of 
these financial statements in accordance 
with Sri Lanka Accounting Standards. 
This responsibility includes: designing, 
implementing and maintaining internal 
control relevant to the preparation and 
fair presentation of financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error; selecting 
and applying appropriate accounting 
policies; and making accounting estimates 
that are reasonable in the circumstances.

scope of audit and Basis of 
opinion
Our responsibility is to express an opinion 
on these financial statements based 
on our audit. We conducted our audit 
in accordance with Sri Lanka Auditing 
Standards. Those standards require 
that we plan and perform the audit to 

obtain reasonable assurance whether the 
financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.

An audit includes examining, on a test 
basis, evidence supporting the amounts 
and disclosures in the financial statements. 
An audit also includes assessing the 
accounting policies used and significant 
estimates made by management, as 
well as evaluating the overall financial 
statement presentation.

We have obtained all the information and 
explanations which to the best of our 
knowledge and belief were necessary 
for the purposes of our audit. We 
therefore believe that our audit provides a 
reasonable basis for our opinion.

opinion - company
In our opinion, so far as appears from our 
examination, the Company maintained 
proper accounting records for the year 
ended 31 March 2014 and the financial 
statements give a true and fair view of 
the financial position of the Company as 
at 31 March 2014, and of its financial 
performance and its cash flow for the year 
then ended in accordance with Sri Lanka 
Accounting Standards.

Without qualifying our opinion we draw our 
attention to Note 46.1(a) to the financial 
statements regarding the matter relating 
to the acquisition order issued subsequent 
to the reporting date by the Divisional 
Secretariat - Nuwara Eliya under the 
Gazette notification No. 1861/6 dated  
05 May 2014, in respect of the investment 
property situated at Upper Lake Road, 
Nuwara Eliya.

opinion - Group
In our opinion, the consolidated financial 
statements give a true and fair view of 
the financial position of the Company 
and its subsidiaries dealt with thereby 
as at 31 March 2014, and of its financial 
performance and its cash flows for the 
year then ended in accordance with Sri 
Lanka Accounting Standards.

Without qualifying our opinion we draw 
attention to;

Note 44 to the financial statements 
regarding the matters that may cast 
significant doubt that the respective Group 
Entities will be able to continue as a going 
concern.

Note 46.1(a) to the financial statements 
regarding the matter relating to the 
acquisition order issued subsequent 
to the reporting date by the Divisional 
Secretariat - Nuwara Eliya under the 
Gazette notification No. 1861/6 dated 05 
May 2014, in respect of the investment 
property situated at Upper Lake Road, 
Nuwara Eliya.

report on other legal and 
regulatory requirements
These financial statements also comply 
with the requirements of Sections 153 (2) 
to 153 (7) of the Companies Act, No. 07 
of 2007.

(Sgd.)
chartered accountants
Colombo, 18 July 2014.
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consolidated stateMent of coMPrehensive incoMe

 Group company
for the year ended 31 March   2014 2013 2014 2013 
  note rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000

Revenue  8 1,801,103 1,938,072 - -
Cost of sales   (1,277,191) (1,354,005) - -
Gross profit   523,912 584,067 - -

Dividend Income   4,163 - 142,054 424,883

Other income  9 44,733 48,497 33,700 507,381
    572,808 632,564 175,754 932,264

Gain on fair valuation of financial investments - Held for trading   87,094 68,963 299 -

Gain/(loss) on fair valuation of derivative financial instruments   10,303 (8,042) - -

Distribution expenses   (60,182) (27,864) - -
Administrative expenses   (330,713) (189,692) (36,786) (43,260)
Other expenses  10 (47,291) (104,322) (4,933) (7,178)
Finance expenses  11 (20,777) (8,728) (132,970) (75,970)
Profit before taxation  12 211,242 362,879 1,364 805,856
Income tax expenses  13 (85,750) (22,456) (803) 1,465
Profit for the year   125,492 340,423 561 807,321

attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent   101,832 236,126 561 807,321
Non-controlling interests   23,660 104,297 - -
    125,492 340,423 561 807,321

other comprehensive income/(expense), net of income tax

Gain/(loss) on fair valuation of financial investments - Available for sale  (41,625) 254,098 - -
Actuarial loss on defined benefit plans   (3,539) - (1,040) -

Other comprehensive income/(expense), net of income tax   (45,164) 254,098 (1,040) -

total comprehensive income/(expense) for the year   80,328 594,521 (479) 807,321

attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent   70,150 412,394 (479) 807,321
Non-controlling interests   10,178 182,127 - -
    80,328 594,521 (479) 807,321

Basic earnings per share (rs.)  14.1 0.83 1.92 - 6.56
dividend per share (rs.)  15 1.00 - 1.00 -

Figures in brackets indicate deductions.

The Notes disclosed on pages 29 to 67 form an integral part of these Financial Statements. 
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consolidated stateMent of financial Position

 Group company

as at,   31.03.2014 31.03.2013 31.03.2014 31.03.2013 

  note rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000

assets 
non-current assets 
Property, plant and equipment  17 417,016 43,590 7,835 11,047
Investment in subsidiaries  18 - - 1,499,692 1,284,594
Other investments  19 - - 600,000 -
Investment property  20 358,779 96,042 536,042 96,042
Investment in venture capital  21 6,000 6,000 - -
Deferred tax assets  22 48,173 46,733 - -
Intangible assets  23 333,013 275,928 21 37
Trade and other receivables   10,000 5,355 - -
total non-current assets   1,172,981 473,648 2,643,590 1,391,720

current assets 
Inventories  24 679,641 364,313 - -
Trade and other receivables  25 881,112 447,181 16,456 54,994
Group balances receivable  26 - - 38,433 -
Financial investments - Held for trading  27 11,653,791 9,999,945 46,355 66,960
Financial investments - Available for sale  28 304,938 346,563 - -
Financial investments - Loans and receivables  29 2,557,511 3,000,610 98,591 -
Derivative financial instruments  30 19,844 10,378 - -
Cash at banks and in hand   51,102 20,395 3,962 688
total current assets   16,147,939 14,189,385 203,797 122,642
Non-current assets held for sale  31 45,416 42,416 - -
total assets   17,366,336 14,705,449 2,847,387 1,514,362

equitY and liaBilities 
Stated capital  32 445,994 445,994 445,994 445,994
Capital reserve   22,500 22,500 - -
Risk reserve   455,128 384,104 - -
Retained earnings   346,936 442,356 376,545 500,021
Fair valuation reserve  33 147,817 176,268 - -
equity attributable to equity holders of the parent   1,418,375 1,471,222 822,539 946,015

Non-controlling interests   556,411 615,992 - -
total equity   1,974,786 2,087,214 822,539 946,015

non-current liabilities 
Deferred tax liabilities   1,373 1,373 1,373 1,373
Retirement benefit obligations  34 26,205 14,905 3,567 1,808
Borrowings on debentures  35 420,215 - - -
Interest bearing borrowings   125,014 - - -
total non-current liabilities   572,807 16,278 4,940 3,181

current liabilities 
Trade and other payables  36 523,435 243,624 7,412 7,115
Interest bearing borrowings  37 1,982,200 576,117 880,263 -
Group balances payable  38 - 287 1,127,592 553,595
Securities sold under re-purchase agreements  39 12,300,690 11,771,296 - -
Derivative financial instruments  40 - 837 - -
Bank overdrafts   12,418 9,796 4,641 4,456
total current liabilities   14,818,743 12,601,957 2,019,908 565,166
 
total equitY and liaBilities   17,366,336 14,705,449 2,847,387 1,514,362

net asset per share (rs.)   11.53 11.96 6.69 7.69

The Notes disclosed on pages 29 to 67 form an integral part of these Financial Statements. 

I certify that these Financial Statements have been prepared and presented in compliance with the requirements of the Companies Act No. 7 of 2007. 

(Sgd.)
niwani Perera
Finance Manager

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and presentation of these Financial Statements.
Approved and signed for and on behalf of the Board,

(Sgd.)        (Sgd.)
Manjula Mathews       dinesh schaffter 
Managing Director       Joint Managing Director

18 July 2014
Colombo
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stateMent of chanGes in equitY

for the year ended 31 March 2014 attributable to equity holders of parent

  stated capital risk retained fair total non- total 
  capital reserve reserve earnings valuation  controlling equity
      reserve  interests
  rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000

Group
Balance as at 1 April 2012  445,994 - 292,865 327,554 - 1,066,413 457,096 1,523,509
Profit for the year  - - - 236,126 - 236,126 104,297 340,423
Other comprehensive income, net of tax  - - - - 176,268 176,268 77,830 254,098
Dividend paid  - - - - - - (8,762) (8,762)
Transfer to risk reserve  - - 91,239 (91,239) - - - -
Adjustment due to acquisition  - - - (30,085) - (30,085) (14,469) (44,554)
Adjustment due to amalgamation  - 22,500 - - - 22,500 - 22,500
Balance as at 31 March 2013  445,994 22,500 384,104 442,356 176,268 1,471,222 615,992 2,087,214

Balance as at 1 April 2013  445,994 22,500 384,104 442,356 176,268 1,471,222 615,992 2,087,214
Adjustment due to acquisition  - - - - - - 21,672 21,672
Profit for the year  - - - 101,832 - 101,832 23,660 125,492
Other comprehensive expense, net of tax  - - - (3,231) (28,451) (31,682) (13,482) (45,164)
Dividend paid  - - - (122,997) - (122,997) (91,431) (214,428)
Transfer to risk reserve  - - 71,024 (71,024) - - - -
Balance as at 31 March 2014  445,994 22,500 455,128 346,936 147,817 1,418,375 556,411 1,974,786

for the year ended 31 March 2014       stated retained total 
       capital earnings/ equity 
        (losses) 
       rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000

company
Balance as at 1 April 2012       445,994 (182,943) 263,051 
Profit for the year       - 807,321 807,321 
Other comprehensive income, net of tax       - - - 
Adjustment due to amalgamation       - (124,357) (124,357)
Balance as at 31 March 2013       445,994 500,021 946,015 

Balance as at 1 April 2013       445,994 500,021 946,015 
Profit for the year       - 561 561 
Other comprehensive expense, net of tax       - (1,040) (1,040)
Dividend paid       - (122,997) (122,997)
Balance as at 31 March 2014       445,994 376,545 822,539 

Figures in brackets indicate deductions.

The Notes disclosed on pages 29 to 67 form an integral part of these Financial Statements.
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stateMent of cash flows

 Group company
for the year ended 31 March   2014 2013 2014 2013 
  note rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000

cash flows from operating activities 
Profit before income tax   211,242 362,879 1,364 805,856

adjustments for :  
Depreciation on property plant and equipment  17 24,443 10,817 3,364 4,162
Amortisation/impairment of intangible assets   1,680 935 16 13
Interest paid   20,777 8,728 132,970 75,970
Dividend income   (4,163) - (142,054) (424,883)
Profit/(Loss) on disposal of property plant and equipment   (3,784) 6 - 6
Profit on sale of investment property   - (15,000) - (15,000)
Profit on disposal of shares   - - (18) (465,505)
Profit on disposal of debentures   (9,835) - (9,835)
Profit/(Loss) on disposal of venture capital investment   - 80 - -
Specific allowance for impairment of non-current assets - held for sale  - 37,802 - -
Provision for retirement benefit obligations   6,341 4,396 719 592
Specific allowance for impairment of investment in subsidiary   - - - 3,217
Specific allowance for slow moving inventory   - 832 - -
Specific allowance for impairment of trade and other receivables   32,766 44,223 - -
Change in financial investments - fair value of derivative financial instruments  - 8,042 - -
Specific allowance for impairment of goodwill   - 19,261 - -
Write-off of ESC recoverable/ VAT receivable   1,339 - 1,339 - 
Gain on fair valuation of financial investments- Held for trading   (87,094) - (299) - 
Gain/(loss) on fair valuation of derivative financial instruments   (10,303) - - -
operating profit/(loss) before working capital changes   183,409 483,001 (12,434) (15,572)

Change in inventories   (315,327) 5,484 - -
Change in trade and other receivables   (471,342) (1,189) 37,108 (51,428)
Change in group balances receivables   - 3,975 (38,432) 5,540
Change in financial investments - Held-for-trading   (1,653,846) (6,088,174) - -
Change in financial investments - Available-for-sale   41,625 (254,098) - -
Change in financial investments - Loans and receivables   440,099 (751,408) - -
Change in trade and other payable   265,909 20,654 (415) (14,392)
Change in interest bearing borrowings   - (762,188) - -
Change in borrowings against re-purchase agreements   529,394 6,924,557 - -
Change in group balances payable   (287) (32,016) 573,995 (538,713)
cash generated from/(used in) operations   (980,366) (451,402) 559,822 (614,565)
Interest paid   (20,777) (8,728) (132,970) (75,970)
Income tax paid   (99,090) (24,335) - -
Gratuity paid   (564) (177) - -
net cash generated from/(used in) operations   (1,100,797) (484,642) 426,852 (690,535)
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 Group company
for the year ended 31 March   2014 2013 2014 2013 
  note rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 

cash flows from investing activities 
Acquisition of investment property  20 - - (440,000) -
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment   (394,084) (34,905) (152) (745)
Acquisition of intangible assets   (3,628) 2,196 - (50)
Acquisition of financial investments - Held to maturity   - (996,919) - (66,960)
Investment in 12% cumulative redeemable preference shares  19 - - (600,000) -
Investment in subsidiary   (200,097) (13,209) (215,097) (13,209)
Investment in shares   (14,997) - (14,997) -
Investment in listed debentures   - - (31,805) -
Investment in fixed deposits   (7,500) - (7,500) -
Investment in short term deposits   (91,091) - (91,091) -
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment   - 275 - -
Proceeds from sale of investment property   - 315,000 - 315,000
Proceeds from sale of investments   763 25,886 763 25,886
Proceeds from sale of venture capital investments   - 1,920 - -
Proceeds from disposal of debentures   76,796 - 76,796 -
Disposal of financial investments- Held-to-maturity   - 1,188,026 - -
Dividend receipts   4,163 3,355 142,054 424,882
net cash flows from/(used in) investing activities   (629,675) 491,625 (1,181,029) 684,804

cash flows from financing activities 
Dividend paid   (122,997) - (122,997) -
Dividend paid to shareholders with non-controlling interests   (91,431) (8,763) - -
Proceeds from shareholders with non-controlling interests  
 on issue of share by subsidiaries      21,672 - - -
Proceeds from interest bearing loans and borrowings   1,531,098 - 880,263 -
Borrowings on debentures   420,215 - - -
net cash flows from/(used in) financing activities   1,758,557 (8,763) 757,266 -

net change in cash and cash equivalents   28,085 (1,780) 3,089 (5,731)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year (Note A)   10,599 12,379 (3,768) 1,963
cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year (note B)   38,684 10,599 (679) (3,768)

note a 
Cash at banks and in hand   20,395 19,239 688 3,380
Bank overdrafts   (9,796) (6,860) (4,456) (1,417)
Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 March   10,599 12,379 (3,768) 1,963

note B 
Cash at banks and in hand   51,102 20,395 3,962 688
Bank overdrafts   (12,418) (9,796) (4,641) (4,456)
Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 March   38,684 10,599 (679) (3,768)

Figures in brackets indicate deductions.

The Notes disclosed on pages 29 to 67 form an integral part of these Financial Statements. 

stateMent of cash flows contd.
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notes to the financial stateMents

1. reporting entity
Dunamis Capital PLC (“Company”) 
is a public limited liability company 
incorporated and domiciled in Sri Lanka on 
18 December 1985. The registered office 
and place of business of the Company 
is No. 2, Deal Place, Colombo 03. The 
shares of the Company have a primary 
listing on the Colombo Stock Exchange. 
The staff strength of the Group as at 31 
March 2014 is 178 (2013 - 86).

The Consolidated Financial Statements of 
the Company as at and for the year ended 
31 March 2014 include the Company and 
its Subsidiaries (together referred to as 
the “Group” and individually as “Group 
entities”).

The Financial Statements of all companies 
in the Group have a common financial year 
which ends on 31 March.

There were no significant changes in 
the nature of the principal activities of 
the Company and the Group during the 
financial year under review, other than 
the commencement of manufacturing 
of Synthetic Leather by forming a new 
subsidiary, and management of a stock 
broking business following an acquisition.

1.1 Principal activities and nature 
of operations 

The principal activity of the Company is 
engaging in investment activities and the 
management of its subsidiaries.

2. basis of preparation
2.1 statement of compliance
The Consolidated Financial Statements of 
the Group and the Financial Statements 
of the Company which comprise the 
Statement of Financial Position, Statement 
of Comprehensive Income, Statement of 
Changes in Equity, Statement of Cash 
Flows and Notes thereto have been 
prepared in accordance with the Sri Lanka 
Accounting Standards (SLFRS/LKAS) 
laid down by the Institute of Chartered 

Accountants of Sri Lanka, and also comply 
with the requirements of Companies Act, 
No. 7 of 2007.

2.2  approval of financial 
statements by directors

The Consolidated Financial Statements 
were authorised for issue by the Board of 
Directors on 18 July 2014.

2.3 Basis of Measurement
The Consolidated Financial Statements 
have been prepared on the historical cost 
basis except for the following material 
items in the statement of financial position:

• Derivative financial instruments are 
measured at fair value.

• Financial investments - held for 
trading are measured at fair value.

• Financial investments - available for 
sale are measured at fair value.

2.4  functional and Presentation 
currency

The Consolidated Financial Statements are 
presented in Sri Lankan Rupees, which 
is the Company’s functional currency. 
Financial information presented in  
Sri Lankan Rupees has been rounded to 
the nearest thousand unless indicated 
otherwise.

2.5  use of estimates and 
judgments

The preparation of Consolidated 
Financial Statements in conformity with 
the Sri Lanka Accounting Standards 
requires management to make judgments, 
estimates and assumptions that affect 
the application of accounting policies and 
the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, 
income and expenses. Actual results may 
differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are 
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions 
to accounting estimates are recognised in 
the period in which the estimate is revised 
and in any future period affected.

Information about significant areas 
of estimation, uncertainty and critical 
judgments in applying accounting policies 
that have the most significant effect on 
the amounts recognised in the financial 
statements are described in the relevant 
Notes as follows.

• Identification, measurement and 
assessment of impairment (Note 
5.4.8)

• Recognition and measurement of 
financial instruments (Note 5.4.1 and 
5.4.2)

• Employee Benefits (Note 5.14)

3. materiaLity and 
aggregation

Each material class of similar items is 
presented separately in the financial 
statements. Items of dissimilar nature or 
function are presented separately unless 
they are immaterial.

Assets and liabilities are grouped by 
nature and listed in an order that reflects 
their relative liquidity and maturity pattern. 
Where appropriate, the significant 
accounting policies are disclosed in the 
succeeding Notes.

Assets and liabilities are offset and the 
net amount reported in the Statement of 
Financial Position only where there is:

• a current enforceable legal right to 
offset the asset and liability; and

• an intention to settle on a net basis, 
or to realise the asset and settle the 
liability simultaneously.

Income and expenses are not offset unless 
required or permitted by the Sri Lanka 
Accounting Standards.
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4. going concern
When preparing the financial statements, 
the Directors have made an assessment 
of the ability of the Company to continue 
as a going concern in the foreseeable 
future and they do not foresee a need for 
liquidation or cessation of trading, taking 
into account all available information about 
future. Therefore, financial statements 
continue to be prepared on a going 
concern basis.

5. significant accounting 
 poLicies
The accounting policies of the Company 
have been consistently applied by the 
Group entities where applicable and 
deviations if any, have been disclosed 
accordingly.

5.1 Basis of consolidation
5.1.1 General
The consolidated financial statements 
are the financial statements of the Group, 
prepared by consistent application of 
consolidation procedures which include 
amalgamation of the financial statements 
of the parent and subsidiaries.

Thus, the consolidation financial 
statements present financial information 
about the Group as a single economic 
entity distinguishing the equity attributable 
to the parent (controlling interest) and 
attributable to minority shareholders with 
non-controlling interest.

5.1.2 Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are entities that are controlled 
by the Holding Company. Control exists 
when the Holding Company has the 
power, directly or indirectly, to govern the 
financial and operating policies of an entity 
so as to obtain benefits from its activities. 
The financial statements of subsidiaries 
are included in the Consolidated Financial 
Statements from the date that control 
effectively commences until the date that 
control effectively ceases.

The Consolidated Financial Statements are 
prepared to common financial year end of 
31 March.

Where subsidiaries have been sold or 
acquired during the year, their operating 
results have been included to the date of 
disposal or from the date of acquisition. 
Upon the loss of control, the Group 
derecognises the assets and liabilities of 
the subsidiary, any non-controlling interest 
and the other components of equity 
related to the subsidiary.

A list of subsidiaries within the Group is 
provided in Note 18.

5.1.3 Goodwill and Gain from a Bargain 
Purchase arose on the Acquisition 
of Subsidiaries

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost 
of the acquisition over the Group’s interest 
in the net fair value of the identifiable 
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of 
the acquired. When the excess is negative 
(bargain purchase), it is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss. Goodwill on 
the acquisition of subsidiaries is presented 
as intangible assets and stated at cost less 
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill 
is tested for impairment as described in 
LKAS 36 - “Impairment of Assets”.

5.1.4 Transactions Eliminated on 
Consolidation

Intra-group balances, and income 
and expenses arising from intra-group 
transactions are eliminated in preparing 
the Consolidated Financial Statements. 
Unrealised gains arising from transactions 
with equity accounted investees are 
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s 
interest in the investee against the 
investment in the investee. Unrealised 
losses are eliminated in the same way as 
unrealised gains except that they are only 
eliminated to the extent that there is no 
evidence of impairment.

5.1.5 Material Gains or Losses, 
Provisional Values or Error 
Corrections

There were no material gains or losses, 
provisional values or error corrections 
recognised during the year in respect of 
business combinations that took place in 
previous periods.

5.1.6 Basis of Amalgamation
As per the statement of recommended 
practice “Merger Accounting for Common 
Control Combinations”, issued by the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants of  
Sri Lanka , the Company adopted the 
“Book Value Basis” for the amalgamation 
of Kelsey Holdings Limited with Dunamis 
Capital PLC.

Accordingly, the net assets of the 
combining entities are consolidated 
using the existing book values from the 
controlling entity’s perspective. The assets 
and liabilities of the acquired entity is 
recorded at their respective book values 
and is amalgamated with the existing 
assets and liabilities of the controlling 
entity. The difference between the 
consideration paid and the capital of the 
acquiree has been is adjusted in equity.

5.2  transactions of foreign 
exchange

Transactions in foreign currencies are 
translated to the respective functional 
currencies of Group entities at exchange 
rates at the dates of the transactions. 
Monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies at the 
reporting date are retranslated to the 
functional currency at the exchange rate 
at that date. Foreign currency differences 
arising on retranslation are recognised in 
profit or loss.
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assets and liaBilities and 
Basis of MeasureMent
5.3 cash and cash equivalents
Cash and Cash Equivalents comprise cash 
in hand and balances with banks.

5.4 financial assets and financial 
liabilities

5.4.1 Recognition and Initial 
Measurement

The Group initially recognises all financial 
assets and liabilities on the settlement date.

Financial assets/ liabilities held at fair value 
through profit and loss any changes in fair 
value from the trade date to settlement 
date is accounted in the Statement of 
Income while for available for sale financial 
assets any change in fair value from the 
trade date to settlement date is accounted 
in the other comprehensive income.

When a financial asset or financial liability is 
recognised initially, an entity shall measure 
it at its fair value plus, in the case of a 
financial asset or financial liability not at fair 
value through profit or loss, transaction 
cost that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition or issue of the financial assets 
or financial liability.

5.4.2 Classification and Subsequent 
Measurement

Financial Assets
At inception a financial asset is classified in 
one of the following categories:

• at fair value through profit or loss 
(either as “held for trading” or 
designated at “fair value through 
profit or loss”)

• loans and receivables
• held to maturity financial assets
• available-for-sale financial assets

Financial Liabilities
The Group initially recognises all financial 
liabilities on the date that they are 
originated and classifies its financial 
liabilities as measured at amortised cost or 
fair value through profit or loss.

Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 
at Fair Value through Profit or Loss
A financial asset or a financial liability is 
designated as “fair value through profit or 
loss” if it is classified as “held for trading” 
or is designated as such upon initial 
recognition. Financial assets and financial 
liabilities are designated at “fair value 
through profit or loss” when:

• The designation eliminates or 
significantly reduces measurement or 
recognition inconsistency that would 
otherwise arise from measuring 
assets or liabilities on a different 
basis

• A group of financial assets and/
or liabilities is managed and its 
performance evaluated on a fair 
value basis

• The asset or liabilities include 
embedded derivatives and such 
derivatives are required to be 
recognised separately

Upon initial recognition attributable 
transaction costs are recognised in profit 
or loss as incurred. Financial assets and 
financial liabilities at fair value through profit 
or loss are measured at fair value and 
changes therein are recognised in profit or 
loss.

Loans and Receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative 
financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments that are not quoted in an active 
market and that the Group does not intend 
to sell immediately or in the near term. 
Loans and receivables are subsequently 
carried at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method.

Securities purchased under resale 
agreements, debentures, commercial 
papers and securitised papers are 
classified as loans and receivables.

Held-to-Maturity Financial Assets (HTM)
Held-to-maturity investments are  
non-derivative assets with fixed or 
determinable payments and fixed maturity 

that the Group has the positive intent and 
ability to hold to maturity, and which were 
not designated as “fair value through profit 
or loss” or as “available-for-sale”.

Held-to-maturity investments are carried at 
amortised cost using the effective interest 
method. A sale or reclassification of a 
more than insignificant amount of  
held-to-maturity investments would result 
in the reclassification of all held-to-maturity  
investments as available-for-sale, and 
would prevent the Group from classifying 
investment securities as held to maturity 
for the current and the following two 
financial years. However, sales and 
reclassifications in any of the following 
circumstances would not trigger a 
reclassification:

• sales or reclassifications that are 
so close to maturity that changes 
in the market rate of interest would 
not have a significant effect on the 
financial asset’s fair value;

• sales or reclassifications after the 
Group has collected substantially all 
of the asset’s original principal; and

• sales or reclassifications attributable 
to non-recurring isolated events 
beyond the Group’s control that 
could not have been reasonably 
anticipated.

Available-for-Sale Financial Assets (AFS)
Available-for-sale investments are 
non-derivative investments that were 
designated as available-for-sale or are not 
classified as another category of financial 
assets. Unquoted equity securities whose 
fair value cannot reliably be measured are 
carried at cost. All other available-for-sale 
investments are carried at fair value.

Interest income on AFS financial assets 
is recognised in profit or loss using the 
effective interest method. Dividend income 
is recognised in profit or loss when the 
Group becomes entitled to the dividend.
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Other fair value changes are recognised 
in other comprehensive income until the 
investment is sold or impaired, whereupon 
the cumulative gains and losses previously 
recognised in other comprehensive income 
are reclassified to profit or loss as a 
reclassification adjustment.

Financial Liabilities Measured at 
Amortised Cost
Financial liabilities not classified as fair 
value through profit or loss are classified as 
amortised cost instruments.

5.4.3 Amortised Cost Measurement
The amortised cost of a financial asset or 
liability is the amount at which the financial 
asset or liability is measured at initial 
recognition, minus principal repayments, 
plus or minus the cumulative amortisation 
using the effective interest method of 
any difference between the initial amount 
recognised and the maturity amount, 
minus any reduction for impairment.

5.4.4 Fair Value Measurement
Fair value is the amount for which an asset 
could be exchanged, or a liability settled, 
between knowledgeable, willing parties 
in an arm’s length transaction on the 
measurement date.

When available, the Group measures 
the fair value of an instrument using 
quoted prices in an active market for that 
instrument. A market is regarded as active 
if quoted prices are readily and regularly 
available and represent actual and regularly 
occurring market transactions on an arm’s 
length basis.

If a market for a financial instrument is 
not active, then the Group establishes 
fair value using a valuation technique. 
Valuation techniques include using 
recent arm’s length transactions between 
knowledgeable, willing parties (if available), 
reference to the current fair value of 
other instruments that are substantially 
the same, discounted cash flow analysis 
and option pricing models. The chosen 
valuation technique makes maximum 
use of market inputs, relies as little as 

possible on estimates specific to the 
Group, incorporates all factors that 
market participants would consider in 
setting a price, and is consistent with 
accepted economic methodologies for 
pricing financial instruments. Inputs to 
valuation techniques reasonably represent 
market expectations and measures of 
the risk-return factors inherent in the 
financial instrument. The Group calibrates 
valuation techniques and tests them for 
validity using prices from observable 
current market transactions in the same 
instrument or based on other available 
observable market data.

The best evidence of the fair value of a 
financial instrument at initial recognition 
is the transaction price, it means that 
the fair value of the consideration given 
or received, unless the fair value of that 
instrument is evidenced by comparison 
with other observable current market 
transactions in the same instrument, that 
is without modification or repackaging, 
or based on a valuation technique whose 
variables include only data from observable 
markets. When transaction price provides 
the best evidence of fair value at initial 
recognition, the financial instrument is 
initially measured at the transaction price 
and any difference between this price and 
the value initially obtained from a valuation 
model is subsequently recognised in profit 
or loss on an appropriate basis over the 
life of the instrument but not later than 
when the valuation is supported wholly by 
observable market data or the transaction 
is closed out.

Any difference between the fair value 
at initial recognition and the amount 
that would be determined at that date 
using a valuation technique in a situation 
in which the valuation is dependent 
on unobservable parameters is not 
recognised in profit or loss immediately but 
is recognised over the life of the instrument 
on an appropriate basis or when the 
instrument is redeemed, transferred or 
sold, or the fair value becomes observable.

Assets and long positions are measured 
at a bid price; liabilities and short 
positions are measured at an asking 
price. Fair values reflect the credit risk of 
the instrument and include adjustments 
to take account of the credit risk of the 
Group entity and the counterparty where 
appropriate. Fair value estimates obtained 
from models are adjusted for any other 
factors, such as liquidity risk or model 
uncertainties, to the extent that the Group 
believes a third-party market participant 
would take them into account in pricing a 
transaction.

5.4.5 Reclassifications
Reclassifications of financial assets, other 
than as set out below, or of financial 
liabilities between measurement categories 
are not permitted following initial 
recognition.

Held for trading non-derivative financial 
assets are transferred out of the “held at 
fair value through profit or loss category” in 
the following circumstances:

• To the available for sale category 
where in rare circumstances, they 
are no longer held for the purpose 
of selling or repurchasing in the near 
term; or

• To the loan and receivables 
category where they are no longer 
held for the purpose of selling or 
repurchasing in the near term and 
they would have met the definition 
of a loan and receivable at the date 
of reclassification and the Group 
has the intent and ability to hold the 
assets for the foreseeable future or 
until maturity.

Financial assets are transferred out of the 
available-for-sale category to the loan and 
receivables category where they would 
have met the definition of a loan and 
receivable at the date of reclassification 
and the Group has the intent and ability to 
hold the assets for the foreseeable future 
or until maturity.
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Held-to-maturity assets are reclassified 
to the available-for-sale category if the 
portfolio becomes tainted following the 
sale of other than an insignificant amount 
of held-to-maturity assets prior to their 
maturity.

Financial assets are reclassified at their 
fair value on the date of reclassification. 
For financial assets reclassified out of 
the available-for-sale category into loans 
and receivables, any gain or loss on 
those assets recognised in shareholders’ 
equity prior to the date of reclassification 
is amortised to profit or loss over the 
remaining life of the financial asset, using 
the effective interest method.

5.4.6 Derecognition
The Group derecognises financial asset 
when the contractual rights to the cash 
flows from the financial asset expires, or 
when it transfers the financial asset in a 
transaction in which substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership of the 
financial asset are transferred or in which 
the Group neither transfers nor retains 
substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership and it does not retain control 
of the financial asset. Any interest in 
transferred financial assets that qualify for 
derecognition that is created or retained 
by the Group is recognised as a separate 
asset or liability in the Consolidated 
Statement of Financial Position. On 
derecognition of a financial asset, the 
difference between the carrying amount of 
the asset (or the carrying amount allocated 
to the portion of the asset transferred), 
and consideration received (including any 
new asset obtained less any new liability 
assumed) is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises a financial liability 
when its contractual obligations are 
discharged or cancelled or expired.

5.4.7 Offsetting
Financial assets and liabilities are offset 
and the net amount presented in the 
Consolidated Statement of Financial 
Position when, and only when, the Group 
has a legal right to set off the recognised 

amounts and it intends either to settle on a 
net basis or to realise the asset and settle 
the liability simultaneously.

Income and expenses are presented on 
a net basis only when permitted under 
LKASs/SLFRSs, or for gains and losses 
arising from a group of similar transactions 
such as in the Group’s trading activity.

5.4.8 Identification, Measurement and 
Assessment of Impairment

At each reporting date the Group assesses 
whether there is objective evidence that 
financial assets not carried at fair value 
through the profit or loss are impaired. 
A financial asset or a group of financial 
assets is impaired when objective evidence 
demonstrates that a loss event has 
occurred after the initial recognition of 
the asset(s), and that the loss event has 
an impact on the future cash flows of the 
asset(s) that can be estimated reliably.

Objective evidence that financial assets 
(including equity securities) are impaired 
can include significant financial difficulty 
of the borrower or issuer, default or 
delinquency by a borrower, restructuring 
of a loan or advance by the Group 
on terms that the Group would not 
otherwise consider, indications that a 
borrower or issuer will enter bankruptcy, 
the disappearance of an active market 
for a security, or other observable data 
relating to a group of assets such as 
adverse changes in the payment status 
of borrowers or issuers in the Group, 
or economic conditions that correlate 
with defaults in the Group. In addition, 
for an investment in an equity security, a 
significant or prolonged decline in its fair 
value below its cost is objective evidence 
of impairment.

The Group considers evidence of 
impairment for loans and advances and 
held-to-maturity investment securities 
at both a specific asset and collective 
level. All individually significant loans and 
advances and held-to-maturity investment 
securities are assessed for specific 
impairment. All individually significant 

loans and advances and held-to-maturity 
investment securities found not to be 
specifically impaired are then collectively 
assessed for any impairment that has been 
incurred but not yet identified. Loans and 
advances and held-to-maturity investment 
securities that are not individually 
significant are collectively assessed for 
impairment by grouping together loans and 
advances and held-to-maturity investment 
securities with similar risk characteristics.

In assessing collective impairment, 
the Group uses of historical trends of 
the probability of default, adjusted for 
management’s judgment as to whether 
current economic and credit conditions are 
such that the actual losses are likely to be 
greater or less than suggested by historical 
data.

Impairment losses on assets carried at 
amortised cost are measured as the 
difference between the carrying amount of 
the financial asset and the present value 
of estimated future cash flows discounted 
at the asset’s original effective interest 
rate. Impairment losses are recognised in 
profit or loss and reflected in an allowance 
account against loans and advances. 
Interest on impaired assets continues to 
be recognised through the unwinding of 
the discount. When a subsequent event 
causes the amount of impairment loss to 
decrease, the decrease in impairment loss 
is reversed through profit or loss.

Impairment losses on available-for-sale 
investment securities are recognised by 
transferring the cumulative loss that has 
been recognised in other comprehensive 
income to profit or loss as a reclassification 
adjustment. The cumulative loss that is 
reclassified from other comprehensive 
income to profit or loss is the difference 
between the acquisition cost, net of any 
principal repayment and amortisation, and 
the current fair value, less any impairment 
loss previously recognised in profit or 
loss. Changes in impairment provisions 
attributable to time value are reflected as a 
component of interest income.
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If, in a subsequent period, the fair value 
of an impaired available-for-sale debt 
security increases and the increase can be 
objectively related to an event occurring 
after the impairment loss was recognised 
in profit or loss, then the impairment loss is 
reversed, with the amount of the reversal 
recognised in profit or loss. However, any 
subsequent recovery in the fair value of an 
impaired available-for-sale equity security 
is recognised in other comprehensive 
income.

The Group writes off certain loans and 
advances and investment securities when 
they are determined to be uncollectible.

5.5 sale and repurchase 
agreements

Securities sold subject to repurchase 
agreements (repos) remain on the 
Statement of Financial Position the counter 
party liability is included under borrowings. 
Securities purchased under agreements to 
resell (reverse repos) are recorded as loans 
and advances. The difference between 
sale and repurchase price is treated as 
interest and accrued over the life of the 
agreements using the effective interest 
method.

5.6  derivative financial 
instruments

Derivatives are financial instruments that 
derive their value in response to changes 
in interest rates, financial instrument prices, 
commodity prices, foreign exchange 
rates, credit risk and indices. Derivatives 
are categorised as trading unless they are 
designated as hedging instruments. The 
Group has not designated any derivative 
as hedging instruments and has not 
followed hedge accounting as at the 
reporting date.

All derivatives are initially recognised and 
subsequently measured at fair value, with 
all revaluation gains or losses recognised 
in profit and loss. All derivatives are carried 
as assets when fair value is positive and 
as liabilities when fair value is negative. 

Derivative assets and liabilities arising 
from different transactions are only offset 
if the transactions are with the same 
counterparty, a legal right of offset exists 
and parties intend to settle the cash flows 
on a net basis.

5.7 non-current assets held for sale
Non-current assets that are expected to 
be recovered primarily through sale rather 
than through continuing use are classified 
as “Held for Sale” once identified that 
the carrying amount will be recovered 
principally through a sale transaction rather 
than through continuing use. These are 
assets which are available for immediate 
sale in their present condition, subject 
to only the terms that are usual and 
customary for sale of such assets and their 
sale is highly probable.

Non-current assets held for sale are 
presented separately on the face of the 
Statement of Financial Position at the 
lower of its carrying amount and fair value 
less costs to sell.

Assets classified as Non-current assets 
held for sale are neither amortised nor 
depreciated.

Impairment losses on initial classification 
as held for sale and subsequent gains and 
losses on re-measurement are recognised 
in profit or loss.

5.8 intangible assets
An intangible asset is an identifiable non 
monetary asset without physical substance 
held for use in the production or supply of 
goods or services, for rental to others or 
for administrative purposes.

5.8.1 Basis of Recognition
An intangible asset is recognised if it is 
probable that the future economic benefits 
that are attributable to the asset will flow 
to the entity and the cost of the assets can 
be measured reliably. An intangible asset is 
initially measured at cost.

5.8.1 (a) Goodwill
Goodwill that arises upon the acquisition 
of subsidiaries is included in intangible 
assets. Goodwill is measured at initial 
recognition in accordance with Note 5.1.3.

Subsequent Measurement
Goodwill is measured at cost less 
accumulated impairment losses. Any 
gain on bargain purchase is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss.

5.8.1 (b) Business License
Business License that arose the acquisition 
of subsidiaries is included in intangible 
assets. Business License is measured at 
cost less amortisation and impairment (if 
any).

Subsequent Measurement
Business License is measured at cost less 
accumulated impairment losses.

5.8.2 (b) Software
All computer software costs incurred, 
licensed for use by the Group, which 
are not integrally related to associated 
hardware, which can be clearly identified, 
reliably measured and it is probable 
that they will lead to future economic 
benefits, are included in the Statement 
of Financial Position under the category 
Intangible Assets and carried at cost less 
any accumulated amortisation and any 
accumulated impairment loss.

5.8.3 Subsequent Expenditure
Expenditure incurred on software is 
capitalised only when it is probable that 
this expenditure will enable the asset 
to generate future economic benefits in 
excess of its originally assessed standard 
of performance and this expenditure can 
be measured and attributed to the asset 
reliably. All other expenditure is expensed 
as incurred.

5.8.4 Amortisation
Intangible assets, except for goodwill, are 
amortised on a straight line basis in profit 
or loss from the date when the asset is 
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available for use, over the best estimate 
of its useful economic life based on a 
pattern in which the asset’s economic 
benefits are consumed by the Group. 
The estimated useful life of software is 
three years. Expenditure on an intangible 
item that was initially recognised as an 
expense by the Group in the previous 
Annual Financial Statements or Interim 
Financial Reports are not recognised as 
part of the cost of an intangible asset at a 
later date. Amortisation methods, useful 
lives and residual values are reviewed at 
each financial year-end and adjusted if 
appropriate.

5.8.5 Retirement and Disposal
An intangible asset is derecognised on 
disposal or when no future economic 
benefits are expected from its use and 
subsequent disposal. Gain or loss arising 
from derecognition of an intangible asset is 
included in the profit or loss when the item 
is derecognised.

5.9 Property, Plant and 
equipment

Property, plant and equipment are 
tangible items that are held for use in the 
production or supply of goods or services 
or for administrative purposes and are 
expected to be used during more than one 
period.

5.9.1 Basis of Recognition
Property, plant and equipment are 
recognised if it is probable that future 
economic benefits associated with the 
assets will flow to the Group and cost of 
the asset can be reliably measured.

5.9.2 Measurement
An item of property, plant and equipment 
that qualifies for recognition as an asset is 
initially measured at its cost. Cost includes 
expenditure that is directly attributable 
to the acquisition of the asset and cost 
incurred subsequently to add to, replace 
part of, or service it. Purchased software 
that is integral to the functionality of the 
related equipment is capitalised as part of 
computer equipment.

5.9.3 Cost Model
The Group applies cost model to property, plant and equipment and records at cost of 
purchase or  construction together with any incidental expense thereon less accumulated 
depreciation and any accumulated impairment loss.

5.9.4 Subsequent Costs
The subsequent cost of replacing a component of an item of property, plant and 
equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of the item if it is probable that the future 
economic benefits embodied within that part will flow to the Group and its cost can be 
reliably measured. The costs of day to day servicing of property, plant and equipment are 
charged to the profit or loss as incurred. Costs incurred in using or redeploying an item 
are not included under carrying amount of an item.

5.9.5 Derecognition
The carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised on 
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. The 
gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is 
included in profit or loss when the item is derecognised.

When replacement costs are recognised in the carrying amount of an item of property, 
plant and equipment, the remaining carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.

5.9.6 Depreciation
The Group provides depreciation from the date the assets are available for use up to the 
date of disposal, at the following rates on a straight line basis over the periods appropriate 
to the estimated useful lives based on the pattern in which the asset’s future economic 
benefits are expected to be consumed by the Group. Depreciation of an asset ceases at 
the earlier of the date that the asset is classified as held for sale or the date that the asset 
is derecognised. Depreciation does not cease when the assets become idle or is retired 
from active use unless the asset is fully depreciated.

asset type depreciation rate

Building  20 years

Computer and office equipment 3 - 6 years

Computer hardware 3 - 5 years

Motor vehicles 3 - 5 years

Plant and machinery 2 - 20 years

Furniture, fixtures and fittings 3 - 8 years

5.10 investment Property
Investment properties are properties held either to earn rental income or for capital 
appreciation or both but not for sale in the ordinary course of business, used in the 
production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes.

5.10.1 Basis of recognition
Investment property is recognised if it is probable that future economic benefits that 
are associated with the investment property will flow to the Group and the cost of the 
investment property can be reliably measured.
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5.10.2 Measurement
An investment property is measured 
initially at its cost. The cost of a purchased 
investment property comprises of its 
purchase price and any directly attributable 
expenditure. The cost of a self-constructed 
investment property is its cost at the date 
when the construction or development is 
completed.

The Group applies the cost model for 
investment properties in accordance with 
the Sri Lanka Accounting Standard  
LKAS 40 - “Investment Property”. 
Accordingly, land and building classified as 
investment properties are stated at cost 
less any accumulated impairment loss.

5.10.3 Derecognition
Investment properties are derecognised 
when disposed of, or permanently 
withdrawn from use because no future 
economic benefits are expected. Transfers 
are made to and from investment 
properties only when there is a change in 
use.

5.11 impairment of non-financial 
assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s 
non-financial assets, other than deferred 
tax assets, are reviewed at each reporting 
date to determine whether there is 
any indication of impairment. If any 
such indication exists, then the asset’s 
recoverable amount is estimated. The 
recoverable amount of an asset or Cash 
Generating Unit (CGU) is the greater of its 
value in use and its fair value less costs to 
sell. For goodwill and intangible assets that 
have indefinite useful lives, the recoverable 
amount is estimated each year. An 
impairment loss is recognised if the 
carrying amount of an asset exceeds its 
estimated recoverable amount. Impairment 
losses are recognised in profit or loss.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill 
is not reversed. In respect of other assets, 
impairment losses recognised in prior 
periods are assessed at each reporting 
date for any indication that the loss 
has decreased or no longer exists. An 
impairment loss is reversed if there has 

been a change in the estimates used to 
determine the recoverable amount. An 
impairment loss is reversed only to the 
extent that the asset’s carrying amount 
does not exceed the carrying amount 
that would have been determined, net 
of depreciation or amortisation, if no 
impairment loss had been recognised.

5.12 inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost 
and net realisable value, after making 
due allowances for obsolete and slow 
moving items. Net realisable value is the 
price at which inventories can be sold in 
the ordinary course of business less the 
estimated cost of completion and the 
estimated cost necessary to make the 
sale.

The costs incurred in bringing inventories 
to its present location and condition, are 
accounted for as follows:

•  Contract work in progress - this cost 
represents the amounts due from 
customer for uncertified work and 
measured at actual cost incurred.

5.13 dividends Payable
Provision for final dividends is recognised 
at the time the dividend is recommended 
and declared by the Board of Directors, 
and is approved by the shareholders. 
Interim dividends payable are recognised 
when the Board approves such dividend in 
accordance with the Companies Act, No. 
7 of 2007.

5.14 employee Benefits
5.14.1 Defined Benefit Plans
A defined benefit plan is a post 
employment benefit plan other than a 
defined contribution plan.

Gratuity
Gratuity is a Defined Benefit Plan. The 
Group annually measures the present 
value of the promised retirement benefits 
for gratuity, which is a Defined Benefit 
Plan. The cost of providing benefits under 
the defined benefits plan is determined 
using the projected unit credit method.

Gains or losses arising as a result of 
changes in assumption are recognised in 
Other Comprehensive Income (OCI) in the 
period in which it arises.

The Gratuity liability is not externally 
funded. These items are grouped under 
Defined Benefit Liability in the Statement of 
Financial Position.

5.14.2 Defined Contribution Plan
A defined contribution plan is a post 
employment plan under which an entity 
pays fixed contributions into a separate 
entity and will have no legal or constructive 
obligation to pay a further amount. 
Obligations for contributions to defined 
contribution plans are recognised as 
expense in the profit or loss as and when 
they are due.

5.14.2 (a) Employees’ Provident Fund
The Company and employee contribute 
12% -15% and 8% -10% respectively 
on the salary of each employee to an 
approved Provident Fund.

5.14.2 (b) Employees’ Trust Fund
The Company contributes 3% of the salary 
of each employee to the Employees’ Trust 
Fund.

5.15 Provisions
A provision is recognised if, as a result of
a past event, the Group has a present 
legal or constructive obligation that can be 
estimated reliably, and it is probable that 
an outflow of economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation.

5.16 commitments and 
contingencies

All discernible risks are accounted for in
determining the amount of all known 
liabilities. The Company’s share of any 
contingencies and capital commitments 
of a Subsidiary or Associate for which 
the Company is also liable severally or 
otherwise is also included with appropriate 
disclosures.

Contingent liabilities are possible 
obligations whose existence will be 
confirmed only by uncertain future events 
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or present obligations where the transfer of 
economic benefit is not probable or cannot 
be reliably measured. Contingent liabilities 
are not recognised in the Statement of 
Financial Position but are disclosed unless 
they are remote.

5.17 interest 
Interest income and expense are 
recognised in profit or loss using the 
effective interest method. The effective 
interest rate is the rate that exactly 
discounts the estimated future cash 
payments and receipts through the 
expected life of the financial asset or 
liability (or, where appropriate, a shorter 
period) to the carrying amount of the 
financial asset or liability. When calculating 
the effective interest rate, the Group 
estimates future cash flows considering 
all contractual terms of the financial 
instrument, but not future credit losses.

Interest income and expense presented in 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income 
include interest on financial assets and 
financial liabilities measured at amortised 
cost calculated on an effective interest 
basis and fair value changes in qualifying 
derivatives.

Fair value changes on all other financial 
assets and liabilities carried at fair value 
through profit or loss, are presented in net 
trading income in profit or loss.

Interest income on available-for-sale 
investment securities calculated on an 
effective interest basis is also included in 
interest income.

5.18 dividend income
Dividend income is recognised in the 
Statement of Income on an accrual basis 
when the Company’s right to receive the 
dividend is established.

This is usually on the ex-dividend date for 
equity securities. Dividends are presented 
in net trading income or net gain/ (loss) 
from financial investments based on the 
underlying classification of the equity 
investment.

5.19 fee income
Investment management fees and 
placement fees are recognised as the 
related services are performed. Fee and 
commission expenses are recognised on 
an accrual basis.

5.20 construction revenue
Construction revenue is recognised by 
reference to the stage of completion. 
Stage of completion is measured by 
reference to the work certified by a 
quantity survey.

5.21 sale of land
Revenue from sale of land is recognised 
only when the risk and rewards pertaining 
to the land is transferred to the customers.

5.22 Profit/(loss) on sale 
of Property, Plant and 
equipment

Profit/(loss) on sale of property, plant and 
equipment is recognised in the period in 
which the sale occurs and is classified as 
other income.

5.23 income tax expense
Income tax expense comprises of current 
and deferred tax. Income tax expense is 
recognised in the Statement of Income 
except to the extent that it relates to items 
recognised directly in equity or in other 
comprehensive income.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on 
the taxable income for the year, using tax 
rates enacted or substantively enacted on 
the reporting date, and any adjustment to 
tax payable in respect of previous years.

Provision for taxation is based on the profit 
for the year adjusted for taxation purposes 
in accordance with the provisions of the 
Inland Revenue Act, No. 10 of 2006 and 
the amendments thereto.

Deferred taxation is provided using the 
liability method, providing for temporary 
differences between the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities for financial 
reporting purposes and the tax base of 
assets and liabilities, which is the amount 
attributed to those assets and liabilities for 

tax purposes. The amount of deferred tax 
provided is based on the expected manner 
of realisation or settlement of the carrying 
amount of assets and liabilities, using tax 
rates enacted or substantively enacted on 
the reporting date.

Deferred tax is not recognised for:

• temporary differences on the initial 
recognition of assets or liabilities in 
a transaction that is not a business 
combination and that affects neither 
accounting nor taxable profit or loss;

• temporary differences related to 
investments in subsidiaries to the 
extent that it is probable that they will 
not reverse in the foreseeable future; 
and

• temporary differences arising on the 
initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates 
that are expected to be applied to the 
temporary differences when they reverse, 
based on the laws that have been enacted 
or substantively enacted by the reporting 
date.

A deferred tax asset is recognised for 
unused tax losses, tax credits and 
deductible temporary differences to the 
extent that it is probable that future taxable 
profits will be available against which they 
can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are 
reviewed at each reporting date and are 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that the related tax benefit will be 
realised.

5.23.1 Offsetting
Current tax assets and liabilities and 
deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
offset only to the extent that they relate 
to income taxes imposed by the same 
taxation authority, there is a legal right and 
intentions to settle on a net basis and it is 
allowed under the tax law of the relevant 
jurisdiction.
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5.23.2 Withholding Tax on Dividends (WHT)
Dividend distributed out of taxable 
profit of the subsidiaries is subject to a 
deduction of 10% at source and is not 
available for set off against the tax liability 
of the Company. Thus, the withholding 
tax deducted at source is added to the 
tax expense of the subsidiaries in the 
Consolidated Financial Statements as a 
consolidation adjustment.

Withholding tax that arose from the 
distribution of dividends by the Company is 
recognised at the same time as the liability 
to pay the related dividend is recognised.

5.24 earnings per share (ePs)
The Group presents Basic and Diluted 
Earnings per Share (EPS) data for its 
ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated 
by dividing the profit or loss attributable 
to ordinary shareholders of the Group by 
the weighted average number of ordinary 
shares outstanding during the period. 
Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the 
profit or loss attributable to the ordinary 
shareholders and the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares outstanding for 
the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary 
shares, which comprise share options 
granted to employees.

5.25 statement of cash flows
The Statement of Cash Flows has been 
prepared using the “Direct Method” of 
preparing Cash Flows in accordance 
with the Sri Lanka Accounting Standard  
LKAS 7 - “ Statement of Cash Flows”. 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise short 
term, highly liquid investments that are 
readily convertible to known amounts of 
cash and are subject to an insignificant risk 
of changes in value.

5.26 events occurring after the 
reporting Period

Events occurring  after the reporting 
period are those events, favourable and 
unfavourable, that occur between the 
reporting date and the date the Financial 
Statements are authorised for issue.

All material and important events that 
occurred after the reporting date have 
been considered and appropriate 
disclosures are made in the Financial 
Statements.

6.  comparative information
The comparative information is reclassified 
wherever necessary to conform with 
the current year’s classification in order 
to provide a better presentation. The 
details of such reclassifications have 
been provided in Notes to the financial 
statements.

7.  new sLfrs issued but 
 not yet effective as at 
 reporting date
Certain new standards, amendments 
and interpretations to existing standards 
have been published by the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants of Sri Lanka, but 
are not yet effective up to the date of 
authorisation of these financial statements 
are given below. Possible impact on the 
financial statements of the application of 
the above new standards have not yet 
been assessed, and the Company intends 
to adopt these standards, interpretations 
and amendments to existing standards 
that are expected to be relevant to the 
Group’s financial statements when they 
become effective.

7.1  slfrs 9 - financial instruments
SLFRS 9, as issued reflects the first phase 
of work on replacement of LKAS 39 -
“Financial Instruments” and applies to 
classification and measurement of financial 
assets and liabilities as defined in LKAS 39.

This standard was originally effective for 
annual period commencing on or after 01 
January 2015. However, the effective date 
has been deferred subsequently.

The Company will quantify the effect of this 
standard in due course.

7.2 slfrs 10 - consolidated 
and separate financial 
statements

Under SLFRS 10 there will be one
approach for determining consolidation 
for all entities, based on the concept 
of power, variability of returns and their 
linkage. This will replace the current 
approach which emphasises legal control 
or exposure to risk or rewards depending 
on the nature of the entity. This will be 
applicable retrospectively subject to 
transitional provisions that provides few 
exemptions. This SLFRS replaces LKAS - 
27 “Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements” and SIC - 12 Consolidation - 
Special Purpose Entities.

7.3  slfrs 11 - joint arrangements
This places more focus on the investor’s 
rights and obligations than on structure 
of the arrangement and introduces the 
concept of a joint operation. This SLFRS 
replaces LKAS 31 - “Interest in Joint 
Ventures” and SIC - 13 Jointly Controlled 
Entities - Non-Monitory Contribution by 
Ventures. This also requires a joint venturer 
to recognise its interest in a joint venture 
as an investment and account for that 
investment using equity method instead of 
proportionate consolidation.

7.4 slfrs 12 - disclosure of 
interests in other entities

This includes the disclosure requirement for 
subsidiaries, joint arrangements and  
associates and introduces new requirements 
for unconsolidated structured entities.

7.5 slfrs 13 - fair value 
Measurement

SLFRS 13 establishes a single source of 
guidance under SLFRS for all fair value 
measurements and provides guidance on 
all fair value measurements under SLFRS. 
This standard will be effective for financial 
periods beginning on or after 01 January 
2014. The use of fair value measurement 
principles contained in this standard 
is currently recommended. Pending a 
comprehensive review of this standard, 
the financial impact has not yet been 
quantified.

notes to the financial stateMents contd.
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 Group company
for the year ended 31 March,   2014 2013 2014 2013 
   rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000

8. revenue 
Financial services   1,821,687 1,763,760 - -
Property development   95,612 231,485 - -
Export manufacturing   - 56,081 - -
    1,917,299 2,051,326 - -
Less: Inter-company revenue   (116,196) (113,254) - -
    1,801,103 1,938,072 - -

9. other income 
12% Dividend on preference shares (Note 9.1)   - - 6,904 -
Profit on sale of investments   - - - 465,505
Rent income   - 24,880 - 24,880
Interest income   31,435 2,391 16,924 1,674
Profit on sale of investment property   - 15,000 - 15,000
Profit on sale of debentures   9,835 - 9,835 -
Miscellaneous income   3,463 6,226 37 322
   44,733 48,497 33,700 507,381

9.1 Dividend is receivable from Kelsey Homes Limited, on the Rs. 600 Mn investment in 12% cumulative redeemable preference 
shares.  

10. other expenses 
Specific allowance for impairment of trade and other receivables   32,766 44,223 - -
Specific allowance for impairment of investment in subsidiary   - - - 3,217
Specific allowance for impairment of non-current assets held for sale  - 37,802 - -
Specific allowance for impairment of goodwill   - 19,261 - -
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary   - 3,036 - 3,961
Miscellaneous expenses   14,525 - 4,933 -
    47,291 104,322 4,933 7,178

11. finance expenses 
Interest on short term loans-Related parties   - - 112,222 75,970
Interest on short term loans-Other   20,748 8,728 20,748 -
Interest on bank overdrafts   29 - - -
   20,777 8,728 132,970 75,970
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 Group company
for the year ended 31 March,   2014 2013 2014 2013 
   rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000

12. profit before taxation
Profit before taxation is stated after charging the following:
Directors’ emoluments   35,673 30,020 13,643 12,218
Auditors’ remuneration - Audit   2,863 2,009 455 430
            Audit related   - 250 - 100
Staff cost   101,472 67,907 10,884 9,503
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment   24,443 10,817 3,364 4,162
Amortisation of intangible assets   1,680 935 16 13
Employer’s contribution to EPF and ETF   16,099 14,000 1,959 1,672
Retirement benefit cost   6,341 4,396 719 593
Legal fees   5,275 1,900 670 -
Specific allowance for impairment of investment in subsidiaries   - - - 3,217
Specific allowance for impairment of trade and other receivables   32,766 44,223 - -

13. taxation
The Company and its subsidiaries are liable for income tax at the rate of 28%, except for First Capital Holdings PLC which is liable for 
taxation at the rate of 12% on venture capital operations, and its subsidiaries are liable for income tax at the rate of 28% on taxable 
profits except interest income arising in First Capital Treasuries Limited. 

 Group company
for the year ended 31 March,   2014 2013 2014 2013 
   rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000

13.1 income tax expenses
Current tax expense   5,355 5,962 803 90
Under/(over) provision   - (1,380) - (1,555)
Deferred tax expense (Note 22)   14,722 2,752 - -
Contingent tax provision   14,800 - - -
Taxes on dividends   50,873 15,122 - -
    85,750 22,456 803 (1,465)
reconciliation of accounting profit to income tax
Profit before taxation   211,242 362,879 1,364 805,856
Inter-group adjustments   (41,318) 419,517 - -
    169,924 782,396 1,364 805,856

Expenses disallowed for tax   22,901 156,591 8,041 29,126
Expenses deductible for tax   (8,804) (154,875) (244) (29,995)
Other income (net)   (6,259) (365) (14,266) (365)
Tax exempt income   (312,406) (907,747) (154,584) (907,101)
    (134,644) (124,000) (159,689) (102,479)
Increase in carried forward loss   (172,088) 145,296 (167,615) 102,800
    (306,732) 21,296 (327,304) 321

Income tax using the corporation tax rate   5,355 5,962 803 90
Under/(over) provision during prior years   - (1,380) - (1,555)
Income tax charge/(reversal) for the period   5,355 4,5832 803 (1,465)
Withholding tax on inter-company dividend   50,873 15,122 - -
Income tax expense   56,228 19,704 803 (1,465)
Deferred tax expense (Note 22)   14,722 2,752 - - 
Contingent tax provision   14,800 - - -
    85,750 22,456 803 (1,465)
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First Capital Treasuries Limited (a sub-subsidiary) is a primary dealer licensed by the Central Bank of Sri Lanka whose interest income 
derived through government securities does not form a part of receipts on trade or business for the purpose of computing statutory 
income of the Company in accordance with Section 32 of Inland Revenue Act No. 10 of 2006.

A decision made by the Board of Review of the Department of Inland Revenue in respect of income tax for the year 2003/04 
acknowledged the above position in July 2010. No tax provisions have been made in this regard in the financial statements 
subsequently. However, the said judgment does not preclude the Department of Inland Revenue from issuing assessments in the 
future. Details relating to current assessments have been disclosed in Note 42.2.3(a) and (b) to the financial statements (contingent 
liabilities).  

14. earnings per share
14.1 Basic earnings per share
Basic Earnings per share has been calculated by dividing the profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year. 

 Group company
for the year ended 31 March   2014 2013 2014 2013

Profit attributable to equity holders of the parent (Rs.’000)   101,832 236,126 561 807,321
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue   122,997,050 122,997,050 122,997,050 122,997,050
Basic Earnings per share (Rs.)   0.83 1.92 - 6.56

14.2 diluted earnings per share
There were no potential dilutive ordinary shares outstanding at anytime during the year ended 31 March 2014. Therefore, Diluted 
Earnings per share is the same as Basic Earnings per share.

15. dividend per share
Interim dividend of Rs. 1/- per share totalling Rs. 122.9 Mn was paid for 2013/14 (2012/13 - Nil).
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16. anaLysis of financiaL instruments by measurement basis 

The following tables compare the fair values of the financial instruments with their carrying values.

16.1 (a) Group - as at 31 March 2014
 held for loans and available held to total fair 
 trading receivables/ for sale maturity carrying valuation 
    Borrowings   amount 
  at amortised  
  cost 
 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000

assets
Cash at banks and in hand - 51,102 - - 51,102 51,102
Derivative financial instruments 19,844 - - - 19,844 19,844
Financial investments - Held for trading 11,653,791 - - - 11,653,791 11,653,791
Financial investments - Available for sale - - 304,938 - 304,938 304,938
Financial investments - Loans and receivables - 2,557,511 - - 2,557,511 2,557,511
Total financial assets 11,673,635 2,608,613 304,938 - 14,587,186 14,587,186

liabilities
Bank overdrafts - 12,418 - - 12,418 12,418
Securities sold under re-purchase agreements - 12,300,690 - - 12,300,690 12,300,690
Interest bearing borrowings - 2,107,214 - - 2,107,214 2,107,214
Borrowings on debentures - 420,215 - - 420,215 420,215
Total financial liabilities - 14,840,537 - - 14,840,537 14,840,537

16.1 (b) Group - as at 31 March 2013
 held for loans and available held to total fair 
 trading receivables/ for sale maturity carrying valuation 
    Borrowings   amount 
  at amortised  
  cost 
 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000

assets
Cash at banks and in hand - 20,395 - - 20,395 20,395
Derivative financial instruments 10,378 - - - 10,378 10,378
Financial investments - Held for trading 9,999,945 - - - 9,999,945 9,999,945
Financial investments - Available for sale - - 346,563 - 346,563 346,563
Financial investments - Loans and receivables - 3,000,610 - - 3,000,610 3,000,610
Total financial assets 10,010,323 3,021,005 346,563 - 13,377,891 13,377,891

liabilities
Bank overdrafts - 9,796 - - 9,796 9,796
Derivative financial instruments 837 - - - 837 837
Securities sold under re-purchase agreements - 11,771,296 - - 11,771,296 11,771,296
Interest bearing borrowings - 576,117 - - 576,117 576,117
Total financial liabilities 837 12,357,209 - - 12,358,046 12,358,046

notes to the financial stateMents contd.
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16. anaLysis of financiaL instruments by measurement basis 

16.1 (c) company - as at 31 March 2014 
 held for loans and available held to total fair 
 trading receivables/ for sale maturity carrying valuation 
    Borrowings   amount 
  at amortised  
  cost 
 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000

assets
Cash at banks and in hand - 3,962 - - 3,962 3,962
Financial investments - Held for trading 46,355 - - - 46,355 46,355
Financial investments - Loans and receivables - 98,591 - - 98,591 98,591
Total financial assets 46,355 102,553 - - 148,908 148,908

liabilities
Bank overdrafts - 4,641 - - 4,641 4,641
Interest bearing borrowings - 880,263 - - 880,263 880,263
Total financial liabilities - 884,904 - - 884,904 884,904

16.1 (d) company - as at 31 March 2013 
 held for loans and available held to total fair 
 trading receivables/ for sale maturity carrying valuation 
    Borrowings   amount 
  at amortised  
  cost 
 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000

assets
Cash at banks and in hand - 688 - - 688 688
Financial investments - Held for trading 66,960 - - - 66,960 66,960
Total financial assets 66,960 688 - - 67,648 67,648

liabilities
Bank overdrafts - 4,456 - - 4,456 4,456
Total financial liabilities - 4,456 - - 4,456 4,456
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16.2 determination of fair value and hierarchy of fair value 

 The following tables show an analysis of financial instruments at fair value and by level of fair value hierarchy. 

16.2 (a) Group - as at 31 March 2014 
   level 1 level 2 level 3 total fair 
      value 
   rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000

financial investments - held for trading
Interest rate swaps   13,974 - - 13,974
Forward purchase contracts   5,755 - - 5,755
Forward sale contracts   115 - - 115
Investment in government securities   11,531,581 - - 11,531,581
Investment in debentures   107,660 - - 107,660
Investment in quoted shares   14,550 - - 14,550
    11,673,635 - - 11,673,635
financial investments - available for sale
Investment in shares   302,938 - 2,000 304,938
Total financial investments   11,976,573 - 2,000 11,978,573

Total financial liabilities   - - - -

16.2 (b) Group - as at 31 March 2013 
   level 1 level 2 level 3 total fair 
      value 
   rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000

financial investments - held for trading
Interest rate swaps   8,387 - - 8,387
Forward purchase contracts   1,991 - - 1,991
Investment in government securities   9,769,002 - - 9,769,002
Investment in debentures   207,803 - - 207,803
Investment in quoted shares   23,140 - - 23,140
    10,010,323 - - 10,010,323
financial investments - available for sale
Investment in shares   344,563 - 2,000 346,563
Total financial investments   10,354,886 - 2,000 10,356,886

financial liabilities
Forward sale contracts   837 - - 837
Total financial liabilities   837 - - 837

notes to the financial stateMents contd.
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16.2 (c) company - as at 31 March 2014 
   level 1 level 2 level 3 total fair 
      value 
   rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000

financial investments - held for trading
Investment in debentures   31,805 - - 31,805
Investment in quoted shares   14,550 - - 14,550
   46,355 - - 46,355

Total financial liabilities   - - - -

16.2 (d) company - as at 31 March 2013 
   level 1 level 2 level 3 total fair 
      value 
   rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000

financial investments - held for trading
Investment in debentures   66,960 - - 66,960
Total financial investments   66,960 - - 66,960

Total financial liabilities   - - - -

level 1 -  Financial instruments that are measured in whole or in part by reference to published quotes in an active market. A Financial 
Instrument is regarded as quoted in an active market if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange 
and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis.

level 2 -  Financial instruments that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis. As market quotes generally are not readily available 
or accessible for these securities, their fair value measures are determined using relevant information generated by market 
transactions involving comparable securities.

level 3 -  Financial instruments that are not supported by observable market price information.
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17. property, pLant and equipment - group

 land Building Motor computer furniture,    office Plant &  total 
   vehicles hardware fixtures  equipment Machinery
     & fittings 
 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 

cost
As at 1 April 2013 - - 27,294 11,869 37,144 37,857 40  114,204 
Through acquisition - - - - 1,093 9,004 - 10,097 
Additions 31,600 81,514 19,200 2,346 9,652 20,429 229,343   394,084 
Disposals - - - (7,053) (3,360) (3,022) -  (13,435)
As at 31 March 2014 31,600 81,514 46,494 7,162 44,529 64,268  229,383 504,950 

accumulated depreciation
As at 1 April 2013 - - 16,883 9,980 10,860 32,872 19  70,614 
Through acquisition - - - - 999 5,240 - 6,239 
Charge for the year - 1,020 7,362 569 9,986 5,369 137 24,443 
Disposals - - - (7,053) (3,287) (3,022) -  (13,362)
As at 31 March 2014 - 1,020 24,245 3,496 18,558 40,459 156  87,934 

carrying value
as at 31 March 2014 31,600 80,494 22,249 3,666 25,971 23,809  229,227 417,016 

Carrying value
as at 31 March 2013 - - 10,411 1,889 26,284 4,985 21 43,590  

17. property, pLant and equipment - company

    Motor computer  furniture  office total  
    vehicles hardware & fittings equipment 
    rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 

cost
As at 1 April 2013    15,075 2,327 10,751 1,161 29,314  
Additions    - 135 - 17 152 
Disposals    - - - - - 
As at 31 March 2014    15,075 2,462 10,751 1,178 29,466  

accumulated depreciation
As at 1 April 2013    8,750 1,553 6,981 983 18,267 
Charge for the year    1,740 186 1,346 92 3,364 
Disposals    - - - - - 
As at 31 March 2014    10,490 1,739 8,327 1,075 21,631 

carrying value as at 31 March 2014   4,585 723 2,424 103 7,835 

Carrying value as at 31 March 2013    6,325 774 3,770 178 11,047 

notes to the financial stateMents contd.
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as at, number of shares company holding % value of shares
 31.03.2014 31.03.2013 31.03.2014 31.03.2013 31.03.2014 31.03.2013 
     rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000

18. investment in subsidiaries 
First Capital Holdings PLC 71,026,756 70,235,233 70.15 69.37 1,077,388 1,062,290
Kelsey Developments PLC 12,120,286 12,120,286 69.50 69.50 128,453 128,453
Premier Synthetic Leather Manufacturers  
      (Private) Limited (Note 18.1) 20,000,000 - 100.00 - 200,000 -
PVIC Management Company Limited 6,283,098 6,283,098 99.88 99.88 93,851 93,851
Sithro Apparel Holdings Limited 6,875,011 6,875,011 100.00 100.00 18,963 18,963
Magna Supermarkets Limited 6,000,000 6,000,000 100.00 100.00 60,000 60,000
      1,578,655 1,363,557
Less: Provision - Sithro Apparel Holdings Limited     (18,963) (18,963)
        Magna Supermarkets Limited     (60,000) (60,000)
Investment in subsidiaries as at 31 March     1,499,692 1,284,594

18.1 In May 2013 the Company invested in a new manufacturing subsidiary which was incorporated under Section 17(2) of the BOI 
Law No. 04 of 1978. The total equity investment in this subsidiary is Rs. 200 Mn.

as at, Group company
   31.03.2014 31.03.2013 31.03.2014 31.03.2013 
   rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000

19. other investments 
 12% cumulative redeemable preference shares (Note 19.1)   - - 600,000 -
    - - 600,000 -

19.1 On 25 February 2014, the Company entered into an agreement with Kelsey Homes Limited a fully owned subsidiary of Kelsey 
Developments PLC, to develop a property in Mount Lavinia as a large-scale housing project comprising of 100 units. Under this 
agreement, Dunamis Capital PLC has invested a sum of Rs. 600 Mn in Kelsey Homes Limited in the form of 12% cumulative 
redeemable preference shares and will be entitled to a 25% share of the profit generated by this project.

as at, Group company
   31.03.2014 31.03.2013 31.03.2014 31.03.2013 
   rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000

20. investment property
Land and buildings   - 350,000 - 350,000
Land   96,042 96,042 96,042 96,042
    96,042 446,042 96,042 446,042
Additions during the year (Note 20.1)   262,737  440,000 
Less: Specific allowance for diminution in value   - (50,000) - (50,000)
    358,779 396,042 536,042 396,042
Less: Disposals during the year   - (300,000) - (300,000)
    358,779 96,042 536,042 96,042

20.1 In May 2013, the Company purchased an undivided 48/87 share of a property in Nuwara Eliya from a subsidiary Kelsey Property 
Developers (Private) Limited for Rs. 440 Mn. The Company now holds a 66/87 share of this property. 
 
The Group has adopted the cost model to measure its investment properties. The fair value of the above investment property is  
Rs. 910.3 Mn, which was determined by the valuation carried out by Mr. M.P. Perera, an accredited independent valuer (Fellow 
member of the Institute of Valuers of Sri Lanka) on the basis of market approach on 13 June 2014.
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as at, Group company
   31.03.2014 31.03.2013 31.03.2014 31.03.2013 
   rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000

21. investment in venture capitaL 
Jayasevana Housing (Private) Limited   10,550 12,550 - -
MFB Cards (Private) Limited   100 100 - -
    10,650 12,650 - -
Disposal during the year   - (2,000) - -
Specific allowance for impairment (Note 21.1)   (4,650) (4,650) -  -
    6,000 6,000 - -

The financial statements of above venture capital investments held under First Capital Holdings PLC (a subsidiary), have not been 
consolidated as at reporting date in accordance with Section 153 (6A) of the Companies Act, No. 07 of 2007 since they are not in 
operation and of no real value to the shareholders of the Company due to the insignificant amounts involved. Further, First Capital 
Holdings PLC has fully provided for the investment in MFB Cards (Private) Limited and for irrecoverable amounts of Jayasevana Housing 
(Private) Limited. First Capital Holdings PLC holds 100% of the above investments.

as at, Group company
   31.03.2014 31.03.2013 31.03.2014 31.03.2013 
   rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000

21.1 specific allowance for impairment 
Jayasevana Housing (Private) Limited   4,550 4,550 - -
MFB Cards (Private) Limited   100 100 - -
    4,650 4,650 - -

22. deferred tax assets 
Balance at the beginning of the year   46,733 49,485 - -
Through acquisition   16,162 - - -
Reversals made during the year (Note 13.1)   (14,722) (2,752) - -
Balance at the end of the year   48,173 46,733 - -

Deferred tax asset is recognised by capitalising the brought forward tax losses, if there is an assurance beyond reasonable doubt 
that future taxable income will be available sufficiently to allow the benefit of the loss to be realised. The deferred tax asset has been 
computed on the basis of 28% (Corporate tax rates which are applicable for year 2013/14 and 2012/13).
  

notes to the financial stateMents contd.
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   software Business Goodwill total 
    license 
   rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000

23. intangibLe assets- group
Gross value 
As at 1 April 2013   18,092 - 300,235 318,327
Through acquisition   575 28,800 - 29,375
Additions   3,628 - 26,337 29,965
As at 31 March 2014   22,295 28,800 326,572 377,667

amortisation/impairment 
As at 1 April 2013   15,544 - 26,855 42,399
Through acquisition   575 - - 575
Amortisation   1,680 - - 1,680
As at 31 March 2014   17,799 - 26,855 44,654

 
carrying value as at 31 March 2014   4,496 28,800 299,717 333,013

Carrying value as at 31 March 2013   2,548 - 273,380 275,928

The Business License represents the stock broking license which was derived through the acquisition of First Capital Equities (Private) 
Limited during the year 2013/14. Under the terms of the acquisition, First Capital Equities (Private) Limited will not benefit from the 
proceeds of de-mutualisation of the Colombo Stock Exchange.

as at, Gross impairment carrying 
 Goodwill Provision value as at
     31.03.2014 31.03.2013 
   rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000

23.1 Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiary companies
First Capital Holdings PLC   153,101 - 153,101 153,101
PVIC Management Company Limited   120,279 - 120,279 120,279
Sithro Apparel Holdings Limited   26,855 26,855 - -
First Capital Equities (Private) Limited   26,337 - 26,337 -
   326,572 26,855  299,717 273,380

As required by LKAS 36 - “Impairment of Assets”, goodwill is tested for impairment annually and assessed for any indication of 
impairment at each reporting date to ensure that the carrying amount does not exceed the recoverable amount. Accordingly, the 
management of the Company conducted an assessment and concluded that there are no further indications of impairment of the 
goodwill for the year 2013/14.
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     software total 
     rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000

23. intangibLe assets - company
Gross value 
As at 1 April 2013     50 50
Additions     - -
Disposal     - -
As at 31 March 2014     50 50

amortisation/impairment 
As at 1 April 2013     13 13
Amortisation     16 16
As at 31 March 2014     29 29

carrying value as at 31 March 2014     21 21

Carrying value as at 31 March 2013     37 37

as at, Group company
   31.03.2014 31.03.2013 31.03.2014 31.03.2013 
   rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000
 
24. inventories
Real estate stock   - 364,204 - -
Work in progress (Note 24.1)   642,416 849 - -
Raw materials and components   37,115 528 - -
Consumable   110 110 - -
   679,641 365,691 - -
Less: Specific allowance for slow moving inventories   - (1,378) - -
   679,641 364,313 - -

24.1 The substantial increase in work-in progress is primarily due to the ongoing development of 100 houses project in Mount Lavinia 
launched by Kelsey Homes Limited (a sub-subsidiary).

as at, Group company
   31.03.2014 31.03.2013 31.03.2014 31.03.2013 
   rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000

25. trade and other receivabLes 
Trade receivables   846,942 352,487 - -
Other receivables   160,628 158,880 13,735 50,884
Deposits, advances and prepayments   9,196 8,484 - -
Tax receivable   70,781 10,614 2,493 2,606
Staff debtors   934 1,095 - -
Import supplier advance   925 - - -
Debenture interest receivable   - 1,504 228 1,504
   1,089,406 533,064 16,456 54,994
Less: Specific allowance for impairment   (208,294) (85,883) - -
   881,112 447,181 16,456 54,994

notes to the financial stateMents contd.
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as at, Group company
   31.03.2014 31.03.2013 31.03.2014 31.03.2013 
  relationship rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000

26. group baLances receivabLe
Premier Synthetic Leather Manufacturers (Private) Limited  Subsidiary - - 38,433 -
    - - 38,433 -

27. financiaL investments- heLd for trading 
Quoted shares (Note 27.1)   14,550 23,140 14,550 -
Government securities (Note 27.2)   11,531,581 9,769,002 - -
Quoted debentures   107,660 207,803 31,805 66,960
   11,653,791 9,999,945 46,355 66,960

 no. of shares Market value cost
as at, 31.03.2014 31.03.2013 31.03.2014 31.03.2013 31.03.2014 31.03.2013 
   rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000

27.1 quoted shares - Group
Alumex PLC 660,950 - 9,385 - 9,253 -
Millennium Housing Developers PLC 833,000 - 5,165 - 4,998 -
Brown & Company PLC - 156,600 - 18,463 - 26,152
Royal Ceramics Lanka PLC - 47,000 - 4,677 - 5,875
Total   14,550 23,140 14,251 32,027
Gain/(loss) from marked to market valuation   - - 299 (8,887)
    14,550 23,140 14,550 23,140

 no. of shares Market value cost
as at, 31.03.2014 31.03.2013 31.03.2014 31.03.2013 31.03.2014 31.03.2013 
   rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000

27.1 quoted shares - company
Alumex PLC 660,950 - 9,385 - 9,253 -
Millennium Housing Developers PLC 833,000 - 5,165 - 4,998 -
Total   14,550 - 14,251 -
Gain/(loss) from marked to market valuation   - - 299 -
    14,550 - 14,550 -



Dunamis Capital PLC | Annual Report 2013/14
52

as at, Market value face value
   31.03.2014 31.03.2013 31.03.2014 31.03.2013 
   rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000

27.2 Government securities- Group 
Treasury bills   9,083,317 9,086,599 9,368,611 9,775,045
Treasury bonds   2,448,264 682,403 2,450,426 673,720
    11,531,581 9,769,002 11,819,037 10,448,765

27.2.1 Securities pledged as collateral 
The government securities classified as dealing securities, the following amounts had been pledged as collateral for re-purchase 
agreements entered into by the Group. 

as at,  Group
     31.03.2014 31.03.2013 
     rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000

Treasury bills (Face value)     9,204,431 9,553,271
Treasury bonds (Face value)     2,432,725 669,877
      11,637,156 10,223,148

 Group company
as at,   31.03.2014 31.03.2013 31.03.2014 31.03.2013 
   rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000

28. financiaL investments- avaiLabLe for saLe
Bartleet Transcapital Limited   1,000 1,000 - -
Lanka Financial Service Bureau Limited   1,000 1,000 - -
Orient Finance PLC (Note 28.1)   302,938 344,563 - -
    304,938 346,563 - -

28.1 First Capital Holdings PLC,(a subsidiary) holds an equity stake of 20% in Orient Finance PLC. As it does not exert a significant 
influence over the financial and operating policies of the investee, the said investment is not considered as an investment in 
associate in accordance with LKAS 28 - “Investments in Associates”.  

 Group company
as at,   31.03.2014 31.03.2013 31.03.2014 31.03.2013 
   rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000

29. financiaL investments- Loans and receivabLes
Corporate debt securities   796,235 429,012 - -
Loan investments   605,883 265,721 - -
Investments under re-sale agreements (Note 29.1)   1,014,456 2,305,468 - -
Investments in fixed deposits (Note 29.2)   140,937 409 98,591 -
    2,557,511 3,000,610 98,591 -

notes to the financial stateMents contd.
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 Group company
as at,   31.03.2014 31.03.2013 31.03.2014 31.03.2013 
   rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000

29.1 investments under re-sale agreements 
Government securities   883,091 2,283,665 - -
Corporate debt securities   131,365 21,803 - -
    1,014,456 2,305,468 - -

29.2 investments in fixed deposits
Fixed deposits (Note 29.2.a)   145,937 5,409 98,591 -
Less: Specific allowance for impairment   (5,000) (5,000) - -
    140,937 409 98,591 -

29.2.a Group’s investment in fixed deposits amounting to Rs. 30.8 Mn has been pledged as collateral for banking facilities obtained  
 (Rs. 5 Mn - 2012/13). No fixed deposits have been pledged for banking facilities in the Company for the year 2013/14.

 Group company
as at,   31.03.2014 31.03.2013 31.03.2014 31.03.2013 
   rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000

30. derivative financiaL instruments (assets)
Interest rate swaps   13,974 8,387 - -
Forward purchase contracts   5,755 1,991 - - 
Forward sale contracts   115 - - -
    19,844 10,378 - -

31. non-current assets heLd for saLe 
Investment in equities (Note 31.1)   42,416 42,416 - -
Freehold land (Note 31.2)   3,000 - - -
   45,416 42,416 - -

31.1 investment in equities 
 Group company
as at,   31.03.2014 31.03.2013 31.03.2014 31.03.2013 
  no. of shares rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000

Ceyspence (Private) Limited  2,861,856 71,432 71,432 - -
Ceyaki Shipping (Private) Limited  3,116,600 29,928 29,928 - -
    101,360 101,360 - -
Less: Specific allowance for impairment   (58,944) (58,944) - -
    42,416 42,416 - -

This represents equity investments in shipping businesses made by First Capital Limited (a subsidiary). All these businesses are in the 
process of liquidation and stated at their realisable values as at the reporting date. The details relating to tax assessments and litigation 
of the investment in equities (above) have been disclosed in Note 42.2.2 (a) and (b) to the Financial Statements (Contingent Liabilities).

31.2 This represents the freehold ownership of one acre land at Galigamuwa, Kegalle held under First Capital Limited (a subsidiary). 
The property has been valued by Mr. D.P. Jayatilaka, an accredited independent valuer (Fellow Member of Institute of valuers of Sri 
Lanka) on the basis of market approach. Fair value of the said property is Rs. 8.8 Mn as at 14 July 2014.
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as at, no. of shares Group company
 31.03.2014 31.03.2013 31.03.2014 31.03.2013 31.03.2014 31.03.2013 
   rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000

32. stated capitaL
Balance at the beginning of the year 122,997,050 122,997,050 445,994 445,994 445,994 445,994
New share issue - - - - - -
Balance at the end of the year 122,997,050 122,997,050 445,994 445,994 445,994 445,994

33. fair vaLuation reserve 
Balance at the beginning of the year   176,268 - - -
Transfers made during the year   (28,451) 176,268 - -
Balance at the end of the year   147,817 176,268 - -

Loss on fair valuation of financial investments - available for sale has been transferred to the fair valuation reserve during the year. The 
above fair valuation reserve arose from the gain on fair valuation on the Group’s equity stake in Orient Finance PLC.

as at, Group company
   31.03.2014 31.03.2013 31.03.2014 31.03.2013 
   rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000

34. retirement benefit obLigations 
Balance at the beginning of the year   14,905 12,081 1,808 1,215
Through acquisition   1,984 - -  -
Adjustment due to disposal of subsidiary   - (1,395) - -
Gratuity charge for the year   4,390 2,493 538 454
Interest charge for the year   1,951 1,903 181 139
Actuarial loss for the year   3,539 - 1,040 -
Paid during the year   (564) (177) - -
Balance at the end of the year   26,205 14,905 3,567 1,808

 Group company
   31.03.2014 31.03.2013 31.03.2014 31.03.2013 
   rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000

The total amount charged to profit or loss in respect of Retirement Benefit:
Gratuity charge for the year   4,390 2,493 538 454
Interest charge for the year   1,951 1,903 181 139
   6,341 4,396 719 593

The total amount charged to other comprehensive income in respect of Retirement Benefit:
Actuarial loss for the year   3,539 - 1,040 -
    3,539 - 1,040 -

As required by Sri Lanka Accounting Standard LKAS 19 - “Employee Benefits”, the Group has provided for gratuity liability based on the 
Projected Unit Credit Method.  

the principal assumptions used are as follows:

Expected annual average salary increment : 12% Staff turnover factor (as a %) : 5%
Discount rate/ interest rate : 9.5% - 10% Retirement age of employees : 55 Years

notes to the financial stateMents contd.
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as at, Group company
   31.03.2014 31.03.2013 31.03.2014 31.03.2013 
   rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs.‘000 rs. ‘000

35. borrowings on debentures  
Debentures issued (Note 35.1)   418,195 - - -
Transaction cost   (918) - -  -
Interest payable   2,938 - -  -
Debentures redeemed   - - -  -
Interest paid   - - -  -
Balance as at 31 March   420,215 -  - -

35.1 The debentures represent 5,000,000 Rated, Senior, Unsecured, Redeemable, 3 years (2014/2017), 4 years (2014/2018) and 
5 years (2014/2019) Debentures of Rs. 100/- each issued by First Capital Holdings PLC (a subsidiary)  in March 2014. The 
debentures are quoted on the Colombo Stock Exchange.

type tenure no. of face value amount amount allotment Maturity rate of frequency
   debentures rs. ‘000 raised raised date date interest on interest 
          Payment 
     31.03.2014 31.03.2013     
     rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000  

Type A 3 year 1,854,000 185,400 185,400 - 12-Mar-14 11- Mar-17 13.50%  Annually
         (AER-13.50% )
Type B 4 year 1,292,000 129,200 129,200 - 12-Mar-14 11- Mar-18 13.75%  Annually
         (AER-13.75%)
Type C 5 year 1,854,000 185,400 185,400 - 12-Mar-14 11- Mar-19 14.00%  Annually 
         (AER-14.00%)
   5,000,000 500,000 500,000 -  
Less: Inter-group  
  investments (818,050) (81,805) (81,805) -  
   4,181,950 418,195 418,195 -  

as at, Group company
   31.03.2014 31.03.2013 31.03.2014 31.03.2013 
   rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000

36. trade and other payabLes
Advances from customers   18,970 35,289 - -
Retention payable   3,228 3,792 - -
Accrued expenses   65,879 84,625 6,084 7,025
Provision for statutory liabilities   38,400 4,262 1,328 90
Advance against non-current assets held for sale   80,218 80,218 - -
Other creditors   316,740 35,438 - -
    523,435 243,624 7,412 7,115

37. interest bearing borrowings
Borrowings on corporate debt securities   1,932,698 497,653 880,263 -
Other short term borrowings   49,502 78,464 - -
    1,982,200 576,117 880,263 -
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as at, Group company
   31.03.2014 31.03.2013 31.03.2014 31.03.2013 
  relationship rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000

38. group baLances payabLe
First Capital Limited  Subsidiary - - 788,835 302,578
PVIC Management Company Limited  Subsidiary - - 250,636 250,730
Kelsey Homes Limited  Sub-subsidiary - - 88,121 -
Nextventures Limited  Affiliate - 287 - 287
    - 287 1,127,592 553,595

39. securities soLd under repurchase agreements
Against government securities   11,043,268 10,606,131 - -
Against corporate debt instruments   1,257,422 1,165,165 - -
    12,300,690 11,771,296 - -

40. derivative financiaL instruments (LiabiLities)
Forward sale contracts   - 837 - -
   -  837 - -

41. reLated party discLosure
41.1. directorships in other companies
The Directors of Dunamis Capital PLC are also Directors of the following companies with which the Company and its subsidiaries had 
transactions during the year.  

names of the companies relationship
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First Capital Holdings PLC Subsidiary √ √ √ √ - -

First Capital Limited Subsidiary √ √ √ √ - -

First Capital Asset Management Limited Subsidiary √ √ - - - -

First Capital Treasuries Limited Subsidiary √ √ √ √ - -

First Capital Markets Limited Subsidiary √ √ - - - -

First Capital Equities (Private) Limited Subsidiary √ √ - - - -

First Capital Investments (Private) Limited Subsidiary √ √ √ √ - -

Kelsey Developments PLC Subsidiary √ √ √ √ √ -

Kelsey Property Developers (Private) Limited Subsidiary √ √ - - - -

Kelsey Homes Limited Subsidiary √ √ - - - -

P V I C Management Company Limited Subsidiary √ √ - - - -

Premier Synthetic Leather Manufacturers (Private) Limited Subsidiary √ √ √ √ √ -

Janashakthi Insurance PLC Affiliate √ - - √ - -

Nextventures Limited Affiliate √ √ - - - -

KHL Corporate Services Limited Affiliate - √ - - - -

notes to the financial stateMents contd.
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The Company carried out transactions in the ordinary course of its business with parties who are defined as related parties in the  
Sri Lanka Accounting Standard LKAS 24 - “Related Party Disclosures,” the details of which are reported below.

  company
     2013/14 2012/13 
     rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000

41.2 transactions with subsidiary companies
Interest income     632 447
Interest expense     112,222 67,397
Dividend income received     142,053 424,883
Profit on disposal of shares     - 465,505
Short term lending     37,800 -
Short term borrowings     486,256 -
Repurchase of shares in PVIC Management Company Limited     - 744,658
Acquisition of shares in First Capital Holdings PLC     15,097 957,870
Payments made for services received     1,090 219

 Group company
   2013/14 2012/13 2013/14 2012/13 
   rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000

41.3 transactions with affiliated companies
Interest income   107,251 113,185 - -
Interest expense   2,127 20,466 - 8,573
Resale agreements   - 668,004 - -
Reimbursement of administrative expenses   - 3,600 - 3,600
Investment in corporate debt securities   371,532 352,103 - -
Secretarial fees   1,434 1,184 709 566
Loan investments   169,990 161,086 - -
Repurchase agreements against corporate debt securities   67,704 - 
Short term borrowings   - 75,285 - 69,233
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41.4 Disclosures in relation to related party transactions in accordance with the Continuing Listing Requirements of the Colombo Stock 
Exchange:  

 date of transaction nature of the related 
party

relationship 
between the entity 
and related party

amount  
rs. ‘000

rationale for entering into the 
transaction 

 company 

31 May 2013 Kelsey Property 
Developers (Private) 
Limited

Subsidiary Company 440,000 Purchased an undivided 48/87 share of a 
property in Nuwara Eliya. The Company 
now holds a 66/87 share of this property. 

31 May 2013 Kelsey Property 
Developers (Private) 
Limited

Subsidiary Company 255,000 Initial payment in accordance with the 
agreement on the sale of a property in 
Nuwara Eliya.  

23 September 2013 First Capital Holdings 
PLC

Subsidiary Company 142,053 Dividend received 

30 September 2013 Kelsey Property 
Developers (Private) 
Limited

Subsidiary Company 185,000 Final payment in accordance with the 
agreement on the sale of a property in 
Nuwara Eliya.  

01 October 2013 Kelsey Property 
Developers (Private) 
Limited

Subsidiary Company 155,836 Borrowed from Kelsey Property Developers 
(Private) Limited, payable on demand or 
before 31 December 2013.  

31 December 2013 Kelsey Property 
Developers (Private) 
Limited

Subsidiary Company 162,050 Settled in accordance with the on-call 
demand agreement entered into with, 
Kelsey Property Developers (Private) 
Limited. 

31 January 2014 Premier Synthetic 
Leather Manufacturers 
(Private) Limited

Subsidiary Company 200,000 Investment in subsidiary 

25 February 2014 Kelsey Homes Limited Subsidiary Company 600,000 Entered into an agreement with Kelsey 
Homes Limited a fully owned subsidiary of 
Kelsey Developments PLC, to develop a 
property in Mount Lavinia as a large-scale 
housing project comprising of 100 units. 

Under this agreement, Dunamis Capital 
PLC has invested a sum of Rs. 600 Mn in 
Kelsey Homes Limited in the form of 12% 
cumulative redeemable preference shares 
and will be entitled to a 25% share of the 
profit generated by this project.

notes to the financial stateMents contd.
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41.5 transactions with key management personnel
According to Sri Lanka Accounting Standard LKAS - 24 “Related Party Disclosures”, Key Management Personnel, are those having 
authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the entity, directly or indirectly, including any director 
(whether executive or otherwise) of that entity. Accordingly, the Board of Directors/ Senior Managerial Personnel of the Company and 
their immediate family members have been classified as key management personnel of the entity.  

nature of transaction Group company
   2013/14 2012/13 2013/14 2012/13 
   rs.’000 rs.’000 rs.’000 rs.’000

transactions with key management personnel
Interest paid on account of repurchase agreements   868 11,232 - -
Interest received on account of resale agreements   15 693 - -
Resale agreements   201 - - -
Repurchase agreements against corporate debt securities   3,512 23,788 - -
Emoluments paid   63,696 47,680 13,643 12,218

transactions with the entities where key management personnel represent
Investment in Unit Trust   347,957 295,821  - -
Dividend paid by Unit Trust   38,043 35,502  - -

42. contingent LiabiLities and Litigations
42.1 company
There were no material contingent liabilities which require disclosures in the financial statements as at the reporting date.  

42.2 Group
42.2.1 First Capital Holdings PLC
(a) The Department of Inland Revenue has raised assessments relating to turnover tax amounting to Rs. 5.5 Mn, together with a 50% 

penalty of Rs. 2.8 Mn amounting to a total liability of Rs. 8.3 Mn. The Company has made an appeal against the tax assessed on 
the grounds that such tax has been levied on income outside the scope of chargeability to Turnover Tax. No provision has been 
made in the Financial Statements in relation to the above. 

(b) The Company has pledged fixed deposits as guarantee to Hatton National Bank PLC amounting to Rs. 5 Mn against the credit 
facilities given by the bank to SECO International Marketing Limited. The Company has made a provision for the full amount of the 
fixed deposit against the guarantee given since the said company is not in operation.

42.2.2 First Capital Limited
(a) Ceyspence (Private) Limited a company in which First Capital Limited has an equity interest of 20% has an assessed income tax 

liability of Rs. 116.76 Mn. The matter is currently in the Court of Appeal and a provision of Rs. 23.58 Mn has been made in the 
financial statements of First Capital Limited as the estimated potential liability relating to First Capital Limited.

(b ) The Colombo High Courts have given a verdict against Ceyaki Shipping (Private) Limited (in which First Capital Limited has an 
equity interest of 20%) on the settlement of a creditor. The matter has been referred to the Supreme Court. A provision of  
Rs. 14.2 Mn has been made in the financial statements in relation to the said liability. 

(c) The Department of Inland Revenue raised an income tax assessment for the year 2010/11. The assessed liability is Rs. 6.2 Mn. 
The Company submitted an appeal against the said assessment in accordance with the provision of Inland Revenue Act. The 
management of the Company is of the view that no liability would arise since the assessment is outside the scope of chargeability 
of income tax.
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42.2.3 First Capital Treasuries Limited
(a) The Department of Inland Revenue raised an income tax assessment for the year 2008/09 in May 2011. The assessed tax liability 

is Rs. 101.3 Mn. The Company has filed an appeal with the Tax Appeals Commission and has provided a bank guarantee for a 
sum of Rs. 25.8 Mn (25% of the tax in dispute) to the Tax Appeals Commission. Written and oral submissions were submitted 
and the Tax Appeals Commission is expected to deliver its determination by November 2014. Based on the tax consultant’s 
opinion, the Management of the Company is of the view that no liability would arise since the assessment is outside the scope of 
chargeability of income tax.

(b) The Department of Inland Revenue raised an income tax assessment for the year 2010/11 in December 2013. The assessed 
liability is Rs. 96.46 Mn. The Company submitted an appeal to the Commissioner General of Inland Revenue. Based on the tax 
consultant’s opinion, the Management of the Company is of the view that no liability would arise since the assessment is outside 
the scope of chargeability of income tax.

(c) The Department of Inland Revenue raised an assessment on Financial VAT amounting to Rs. 89.6 Mn for the year 2010/11 in July 
2013. The Company submitted an appeal against the said assessment to the Commissioner General of Inland Revenue. Based on 
the tax consultant’s opinion, the Management of the Company is of the view that no liability would arise since the assessment is 
outside the scope of chargeability of Financial VAT.

42.2.4 Kelsey Developments PLC
(a) Kelsey Developments PLC is one of the Defendants, on behalf of its clients, in a Partition Case to establish title in respect of 

a property situated at Nawala. Based on legal advice, management is of the opinion that a loss is not probable. Accordingly, 
provision has not been made in the financial statements.  

(b) Kelsey Developments PLC and its subsidiaries provide a warranty period of 10 years for structural damages in construction. The 
Directors are of the view that no provision is required on such warranty based on historical trend.

There were no other material litigations or claims that could have a material impact on the financial position of the Group, or which would 
lead to a disclosure in the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2014.

43. capitaL commitments
There were no material capital commitments as at the reporting date which require disclosure in the financial statements.

44. going concern of subsidiaries
44.1. Kelsey Property developers (Private) limited
The financial statements are prepared on the assumption that the Company is a going concern i.e. as continuing in operations for the 
foreseeable future.  

During the year the Company generated a net profit of Rs. 152.97 Mn (2013 - Net loss of Rs. 52.70 Mn). As at 31 March 2014 the 
Company’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by Rs. 48.21 Mn (2013 - Rs. 195.60 Mn) and the Company had a negative net 
assets position of Rs. 39.82 Mn (2013 - Rs. 192.93 Mn) which reflected a substantial improvement. 

During the year the Company has disposed its inventories valued at Rs. 317.54 Mn (2013 - Rs. 50.26 Mn). In addition to the above, the 
parent entity, Kelsey Developments PLC is committed to assist the Company in providing all necessary financial support to enable the 
Company, to meet its obligations as they fall due and to continue the operations of the Company as a going concern.

Taking the above circumstances into consideration, the Directors are confident of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern 
and have no plans to liquidate the entity in the foreseeable future.

notes to the financial stateMents contd.
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44.2 Kelsey homes limited
The financial statements are prepared on the assumption that the Company is a going concern i.e. as continuing in operations for the 
foreseeable future.  

During the year the Company incurred a net loss of Rs. 13.95 Mn (2013 - Rs. 2.43 Mn). The accumulated loss as at reporting date was 
Rs. 37 Mn (2013 - Rs. 13.32 Mn).  

However, following an infusion of Rs. 600 Mn as preference shares by Dunamis Capital PLC on 25 February 2014, the Company’s 
current assets exceeded its current liabilities by Rs. 582.59 Mn (2013 - Rs. 7.05 Mn) and net assets stood at Rs. 587.99 Mn  
(2013 - Rs. 11.68 Mn).  

During the year the Company invested approximately Rs. 600 Mn in land inventories (2013 - approximately Rs. 100 Mn) and launched a 
housing project with 100 houses. Investment on construction of houses and common facilities has been estimated to exceed Rs. 700 Mn 
with expected gross profit of more than Rs. 300 Mn over a two years period.  

In addition to the above, the parent entity, Kelsey Developments PLC is committed to assist the Company in providing all necessary 
financial support to enable the Company to meet its obligations as they fall due and to continue the operations of the Company as a 
going concern.

Taking the above circumstances into consideration the Directors are confident of the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern.  

44.3 Kelsey aluminium (Private) limited
The Company has been non-operational since 01 April 2009 and shareholders have passed a resolution on 13 January 2014 to liquidate 
the Company under a creditors’ voluntary winding-up scheme.

The Board of Directors have decided to prepare these financial statements on a basis other than as a going concern following the 
cessation of operations. It has also been resolved by Kelsey Developments PLC that in the event the Company is unable to meet all its 
liabilities from the amounts realised from its assets that such amount will be borne by Kelsey Developments PLC.

Accordingly, the financial statements have been prepared on a basis more fully explained in this note reflecting that the going concern 
assumption has not been adopted in preparing these financial statements. Consequently, adjustments have been made to provide for 
the diminution in value of all fixed assets so as to reduce their carrying value to their estimated realisable amount, and to reclassify fixed 
assets and long-term liabilities as current assets and liabilities.

The financial statements are prepared using the following basis:

• Property, Plant and Equipment and trade and other receivables stated at the lower of cost and recoverable amount. Potential 
unrealised gains on disposal are not taken into considerations.

• Provisions have been made for further liabilities that may arise.
• Prepayments are expensed unless they represent a future cash refund, in which case it was reclassified as receivables.
• The financial statements include only the estimated tax liability that may arise.

44.4 sithro apparel holdings limited
The Company was non-operational and shareholders have passed a resolution on 13 January 2014 to liquidate the Company under a 
creditors voluntary winding-up scheme.
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45. assets pLedged and guarantees provided
There were no material assets pledged as collateral as at the reporting date, which require adjustments to or disclosure in the financial 
statements other that those disclosed below:

45.1 company
(a) 37 Mn of shares held by the Company in First Capital Holdings PLC has been pledged as security over bank facilities obtained by 

Dunamis Capital PLC from Seylan Bank PLC. 

(b) On 14 June 2013, the Company has provided a Corporate Guarantee on behalf of Premier Synthetic Leather Manufacturers 
(Private)  Limited amounting to Rs. 125 Mn against a banking facility.

45.2 Group
(a) Group’s investment in fixed deposits amounting to Rs. 30.8 Mn has been pledged as collateral for banking facilities obtained.

46. events occurring after the reporting date
There were no material events after the reporting date, which require adjustments to or disclosure in the financial statements other than 
those disclosed below:  

46.1 company
(a) The Company has received an acquisition order dated 10 June 2014 under gazette notification No. 1861/6 dated 5 May 2014, in 

respect of the property situated at Upper Lake Road, Nuwara Eliya which is 76% owned by the Company. The Board of Directors 
of the Company  are unable to determine at this stage whether, as a result of the acquisition order, any adjustments would be 
necessary to the amounts reported in the financial statements as at 31 March 2014 in respect of investment property, net profit 
and retained earnings.

(b) The Board of Directors resolved to raise Rs. 1 Bn by issuing Ten Million (10,000,000) Listed, Rated Senior Unsecured Redeemable 
5 years debentures with a face value of Rupees One hundred (Rs. 100/-).  The issue opens on 28 July 2014. The proceeds of the 
issue will be utilised to retire short-term debt, invest in listed equities and fund future acquisitions.

46.2 Group
(a) On 1 July 2014, Kelsey Homes Limited, a subsidiary of the Company obtained a term loan amounting Rs. 400 Mn from 

Commercial Bank of Ceylon PLC, as part financing of a property in Mount Lavinia. This amount is to be repaid in 30 monthly 
installments commencing one month from the disbursement. A primary mortgage bond of Rs. 400 Mn was signed with 
Commercial Bank of Ceylon PLC over the said property in Mount Lavinia against the loan obtained. 

(b)  The Board of Directors of First Capital Holdings PLC ( a subsidiary) has recommended a payment of a final dividend of Rs. 2/- per 
share totalling Rs. 202.5 Mn for the year ended 31 March 2014 to be approved at the Annual General Meeting to be held on 27 
August 2014.

(c) In July 2014 the management of PVIC Management Company Limited expects to exercise a repurchase of shares in accordance 
with the provisions of Section 64 of the Companies Act, No. 7 of 2007. Accordingly, the number of shares to be purchased from the 
existing shareholders will be 6,164,927 at a fair value of Rs. 39.83 per share amounting to a total consideration of Rs. 245.55 Mn.

(d) On 6 May 2014 , Washworks Limited a sub-subsidiary, was liquidated by passing a special resolution under a creditors voluntary 
winding-up scheme

47. comparative figures
To facilitate comparison, relevant balances pertaining to the previous year have been reclassified to conform to current year classification 
and presentation.  

notes to the financial stateMents contd.
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48. directors’ responsibiLity  statement
The Board of Directors of the Company is responsible for the preparation and presentation of these financial statements. The Statement 
of Director’s Responsibility in relation to the financial statements of the Group is set out on page 19.

49. financiaL risk management
overview
The group has the exposure to the following financial risks through its subsidiaries.

• Interest Rate Risk
• Liquidity Risk
• Credit Risk
• Foreign Exchange Risk

This note presents information about the group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the objectives, policies and processes for 
measuring and managing risk. Overall authority for managing risk is vested with the Board of Directors.

49.1 risk Management framework
Risk Management Framework of Dunamis has been adopted at both Group and subsidiary levels to enable scarce resources to generate 
maximum return whilst minimising the associated risk. The Board has overall responsibility for the management of risk and for reviewing 
the effectiveness of internal control processes. Risk Appetite is translated and cascaded to different business activities both quantitatively 
and qualitatively. We thus aim to deliver superior value to all our stakeholders while achieving an appropriate trade-off between risk and 
returns.

Our policy for risk management is to respond to risk pro-actively to ensure continued growth of our business in a highly competitive 
and uncertain environment while sustaining the value creation. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect 
changes in market conditions and products and services offered.

49.1(a) Interest Rate Risk
It is defined as the probability of income losses arising, owing to a change in interest rates. Management of Interest Rate Risk included 
the following elements;

• Interest rate risk is responded through establishing better relationship with financial institutions
• Use of internal fund management models and techniques in order to make informed decisions

49.1(b) Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the group will not have adequate financial resources to meet its obligations as when they fall due.
Management of Liquidity Risk includes the following elements;

• Continuous reviewing of business models and working capital management
• The Asset and Liability Management Committee (ALCO) of the financial arm of the Group is mandated to execute liquidity 

management policies and procedures
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Maturity analysis of the financial assets and financial liabilities 

Group - as at 31 March 2014 carrying up to 3 3 Months to 1-3 Years 3-5 Years over 5 
 amount Months 1 Year   Years 
 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000

assets
Cash at banks and in hand 51,102 51,102 - - - -
Derivative financial instruments 19,844 5,870 13,974 - - -
Financial investments - Held to trading 11,653,791 263,975 8,993,006 1,930,969 416,060 49,781
Financial investments - Available for sale 304,938 - - - - 304,938
Financial investments - Loans and receivables 2,557,511 2,160,057 286,463 110,991 - -
Other financial assets (Trade receivables - Net) 846,942 628,478 218,464 - - -
total 15,434,128 3,109,482 9,511,907 2,041,960 416,060 354,719

As at 31 March 2013 13,730,378 3,339,861 9,612,482 122,363 191,882 463,790

liabilities
Bank overdraft 12,418 12,418 - - - -
Securities sold under repurchase agreements 12,300,690 9,493,768 2,806,922 - - -
Interest bearing borrowings 2,107,214 804,890 1,177,310 125,014 - -
Borrowings on debentures 420,215 - - 127,721 292,494 -
total 14,840,537 10,311,076 3,984,232 252,735 292,494 -

As at 31 March 2013 12,358,046 11,839,106 517,640 1,300 - -

company - as at 31 March 2014 carrying up to 3 3 Months to 1-3 Years 3-5 Years over 5 
 amount Months 1 Year   Years 
 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000

assets
Cash at banks and in hand 3,962 3,962 - - - -
Financial investments - Held to trading 46,355 46,355 - - - -
Financial investments - Loans and receivables 98,591 98,591 - - - -
total 148,908 148,908 - - - -

As at 31 March 2013 67,648 67,648 - - - -

liabilities
Bank overdraft 4,641 4,641 - - - -
Interest bearing borrowings 880,263 - 880,263 - - -
total 884,904 4,641 880,263 - - -

As at 31 March 2013 4,456 4,456 - - - -

notes to the financial stateMents contd.
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49.1(c) Credit Risk
It is the probability of the loss of income owing to default by the company’s debtors. The Group conducts an in-depth analysis of debtors 
in each subsidiary on a regular basis.
Management of Credit Risk includes the following elements;

• Credit customers are subject to a credit analysis before establishing business relationships
• Debtor concentration and overdue debtors of each subsidiary is also monitored constantly so as to minimise losses
• The collection process and individual monitoring also takes place at subsidiary level as part of their day to day operational activities

credit quality by class of financial assets 

Group - as at 31 March 2014    neither past Past due individually total 
   due nor but not impaired 
   impaired impaired 
   rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000

assets
Cash at banks and in hand   51,102 - - 51,102
Derivative financial instruments   19,844 - - 19,844
Financial investments - Held for trading   11,653,791 - - 11,653,791
Financial investments - Available for sale   304,938 - - 304,938
Financial investments - Loans and receivables   2,557,511 - - 2,557,511
Other financial assets (Trade receivables)   846,942 - 208,294 1,055,236
total financial assets   15,434,128 - 208,294 15,642,422

Group - as at 31 March 2013    neither past Past due individually total 
   due nor but not impaired 
   impaired impaired 
   rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000

assets
Cash at banks and in hand   20,395 - - 20,395
Derivative financial instruments   10,378 - - 10,378
Financial investments - Held for trading   9,999,945 - - 9,999,945
Financial investments - Available for sale   346,563 - - 346,563
Financial investments - Loans and receivables   3,000,610 - - 3,000,610
Other financial assets (Trade receivables)   352,487 - 85,883 438,370
total financial assets   13,730,378 - 85,883 13,816,261



Dunamis Capital PLC | Annual Report 2013/14
66

notes to the financial stateMents contd.

49.1(d) Foreign Exchange Risk
It is defined as the adverse impact of exchange rate fluctuations on the Group’s cash flows, assets and liabilities, and business activities 
such as purchasing of capital goods, raw materials and services. This is specially the case for the manufacturing arm.
Management of Foreign Exchange Risk includes the following elements;

• Monitoring exchange rate movements continuously for currencies in which the Group carries out transactions
• Steps to ensure that timely and appropriate hedging activities are taken as appropriate

analysis of concentration risk 
The following table shows the risk concentration by sector for the components of the Statement of Financial Position. 

Group - as at 31 March 2014 
 cash at derivative financial financial financial other financial total 
 Banks and in financial investments-  investments-  investments-  assets (trade financial 
 hand instruments held for loans and available for receivables assets 
   trading receivables sale Gross) 
 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000

sector wise breakdown
Government - - 11,531,581 - - - 11,531,581
Corporates 51,102 19,844 122,210 2,520,003 304,938 183,126 3,201,223
Others - - - 37,508 - 663,816 701,324
total 51,102 19,844 11,653,791 2,557,511 304,938 846,942 15,434,128

Group - as at 31 March 2013 
 cash at derivative financial financial financial other financial total 
 Banks and in financial investments-  investments-  investments-  assets (trade financial 
 hand instruments held for loans and available for receivables assets 
   trading receivables sale Gross) 
 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000 rs. ‘000

sector wise breakdown
Government - - 9,769,002 - - - 9,769,002
Corporates 20,395 10,378 230,943 2,843,256 346,563 58,694 3,510,229
Others - - - 157,354 - 293,793 451,147
total 20,395 10,378 9,999,945 3,000,610 346,563 352,487 13,730,378
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investors’ inforMation

1. stock exchange Listing
The issued ordinary shares of Dunamis Capital PLC are listed on the Colombo Stock Exchange.

2. distribution of sharehoLding
no. of shares held 31 March 2014 31 March 2013

shareholders holding shareholders holding

number % number % number % number %

1 - 1000 1870 68.70 563,921 0.46 2,000 67.20 622,568 0.51

1,001 - 5,000 554 20.36 1,323,268 1.08 635 21.34 1,544,939 1.26

5,001 - 10,000 122 4.48 972,056 0.79 146 4.90 1,151,382 0.93

10,001 - 50,000 137 5.03 3,115,588 2.53 150 5.04 3,300,474 2.68

50,001 - 100,000 17 0.62 1,152,630 0.94 21 0.71 1,388,385 1.13

100,001 - 500,000 12 0.44 2,748,736 2.23 14 0.47 3,155,779 2.57

500,001 - 1,000,000 - - - 0.00 - - - -

Over 1,000,000 10 0.37 113,120,851 91.97 10 0.34 111,833,523 90.92

total 2722 100.00 122,997,050 100.00 2,976 100.00 122,997,050 100.00

3. anaLysis of sharehoLders

category of 
shareholders

31 March 2014 31 March 2013

shareholders holding shareholders holding

number % number % number % number %

Individuals 2,625 96.44 31,088,948 25.28 2,866 96.30 32,335,227 26.29

Institutions 97 3.56 91,908,102 74.72 110 3.70 90,661,823 73.71

total 2,722 100.00 122,997,050 100.00 2,976 100.00 122,997,050 100.00

Resident 2,702 99.27 122,837,532 99.87 2,953 99.23 122,773,967 99.82

Non - Resident 20 0.73 159,518 0.13 23 0.77 223,083 0.18

total 2,722 100.00 122,997,050 100.00 2,976 100.00 122,997,050 100.00

4. pubLic hoLding
Percentage held by the public - 24.41% (2013 - 14.33%)

5. share price movement for the year

2013/14
rs.

2012/13
rs.

Highest 15.30 13.00 

Lowest 10.00 9.50 

Year - end 12.60 11.70 

6. information on share trading and market capitaLisation

2013/14 2012/13

Number of transactions 3,026 2,706 

Number of shares traded 5,181,724 10,671,873 

Value of shares traded (Rs.) 68,747,537 146,266,975 

Market capitalisation (Rs.) 1,549,762,830 1,439,065,485
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top twenty sharehoLders

names of shareholders as at 31 March 2014 as at 31 March 2013

no. of shares holding % no. of shares holding %

First Capital Markets Limited/ Nextventures Limited 26,244,562 21.34 26,244,562 21.34

Pan Asia Banking Corporation PLC / Ms. M. Mathews 26,003,365 21.14 26,003,365 21.14

Mr. D.Schaffter 20,274,918 16.48 20,274,918 16.48

HSBC International Nominees Limited - SSBT-Deustche Bank 12,415,981 10.09 12,398,723 10.08

Janashakthi Limited 11,124,473 9.04 7,924,473 6.44

Commercial Bank of Ceylon PLC / Janashakthi Limited 6,200,000 5.04 9,400,000 7.64

HSBC International Nominees Limited - UBS AG Singapore Branch 5,745,052 4.67 4,475,983 3.64

Ms. R.S.L. De Mel 2,000,000 1.63 2,000,000 1.63

Seylan Bank PLC / Janashakthi Limited 1,899,000 1.54 1,899,000 1.54

Nextventures Limited 1,213,500 0.99 1,213,500 0.99

Mr. A. Sithampalam 426,328 0.35 466,328 0.38

Dr. R.M.S. Pieris 304,800 0.25 304,800 0.25

Mr. R.E. Rambukwelle 301,350 0.24 298,850 0.24

Mr. Aruna Enterprises (Private) Limited 260,345 0.21 260,345 0.21

Mr. D.A. Edussuriya 250,000 0.20 281,500 0.23

Mr. D.S.D. De Lanerolle 250,000 0.20 250,000 0.20

Mr. Abeysiri Hemapala Munasinghe 243,727 0.20 243,727 0.20

Ms. W.A.D.S. Wijesooriya 221,600 0.18 221,600 0.18

Mr. K.M. Dissanayake 128,300 0.10 - -

Waldock Mackenzie Limited/ Ranuk Financial Holdings (Private) Limited 127,961 0.10 - -

directors’ sharehoLding

names of the directors as at 31 March 2014 as at 31 March 2013

no. of shares holding % no. of shares holding %

Ms. Manjula Mathews 26,003,365 21.14 26,003,365 21.14

Mr. Dinesh Schaffter 20,274,918 16.48 20,274,918 16.48

Mr. Nihara E. Rodrigo 13,000 0.01 13,000 0.01

Mr. A.D.E.I. Perera - - - -

Mr. Chandana L. de Silva - - - -

Mr. R. Saliya A.W. Wickramasuriya - - - -
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decade at a Glance

group

Year ended 31 March current slfrss (note a) as per previous slass

2014
rs.’000

2013
rs.’000

2012
rs.’000

2011
rs.’000

2010
rs.’000

2009
rs.’000

2008
rs.’000

(restated)

2007
rs.’000

2006
rs.’000

2005
rs.’000

tradinG results

Revenue 1,801,103 1,938,072 1,097,219 2,558,495 3,696,121 2,751,202 2,800,245 49,875 69,299 92,009

Gross profit 523,912 584,067 124,867 726,207 1,432,073 424,788 223,131 30,124 12,786 8,928

Profit/(loss) before taxation 211,242 362,879 (485,166) 816,805 849,674 (187,090) (266,136) (44,958) 11,524 8,473

Taxation (85,750) (22,456) (16,085) 367,600 (496,819) (166,447) (47,333) (3,922) (850) (611)

Profit/(loss) after taxation 125,492 340,423 (501,251) 1,184,405 352,855 (353,537) (313,469) (48,880) 10,674 7,862

Other comprehensive 
income/(expense) net of 
income tax

(45,164)  254,098 - - - - - - - -

Total comprehensive 
income/(expense)

80,328  594,521 (501,251) - - - - - - -

current slfrss (note a) as per previous slass

2014
rs.’000

2013
rs.’000

2012
rs.’000

2011
rs.’000

2010
rs.’000

2009
rs.’000

2008
rs.’000

(restated)

2007
rs.’000

2006
rs.’000

2005
rs.’000

financial Position

Stated capital 445,994 445,994 445,994 445,994 200,000 983,976 983,976 345,994 49,199 49,199

Capital reserve 22,500 22,500 - - - - - - - -

Risk reserve 455,128 384,104 292,865 292,865 168,717 77,022 30,986 - - -

Retaining earnings 346,936 442,356 327,554 683,813 (163,316) (934,847) (451,286) (19,155) 28,584 25,290

Fair valuation reserve 147,817 176,268 - - - - - - - -

1,418,375  1,471,222 1,066,413 1,422,672 205,401 126,151 563,676 326,839 77,783 74,489

Non-controlling interests 556,411 615,992 457,096 - - - - - - -

Minority interest - - - 682,444 502,236 417,793 358,430 297,192 - -

Total equity 1,974,786 2,087,214 1,523,509 2,105,116 707,637 543,944 922,106 624,031 77,783 74,489

Total assets 17,366,336 14,705,449 7,991,716 12,223,418 11,464,598 12,391,253 13,206,800 9,009,533 78,675 75,424

Current liabilities 14,818,743 12,601,957 6,454,753 10,103,886 10,692,716 (11,763,218) (12,146,094) (8,423,779) (892) (935)

Non-current liabilities 572,807 16,278 13,454 14,416 64,245 (84,362) (139,600) 61,723 - -

Key indicators

Earnings /(loss) per share (Rs.) 0.83 1.92 (3.09) 7.92 1.32 (3.59) (4.21) (1.81) 2.17 1.60

Net assets per share (Rs.) 11.53 11.96 8.67 11.57 2.09 1.28 5.73 9.22 15.81 15.14

Market price per share (Rs.) 12.60 11.70 10.00 12.90 10.25 3.60 8.00 8.00 31.25 31.00

Price earnings ratio (Times) 15.18 6.09 - 1.63 7.76 - - - 14.40 19.38

note a
Trading results relating to 2013/14, 2012/13 and 2011/12 have been presented in accordance with the current Sri Lanka Accounting Standards  
(LKASs/SLFRSs).

Financial Position as at 31 March 2014, 31 March 2013, 31 March 2012 and 31 March 2011 have been presented in accordance with the current  
Sri Lanka Accounting Standards (LKASs/SLFRSs).
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GlossarY of financial terMs

 accrual basis: The system of 
accounting wherein revenue is 
recognised at the time it is earned 
and expenses at the time they are 
incurred, regardless of whether cash 
has actually been received or paid 
out.

 asset: A resource controlled by the 
entity as a result of past events and 
from which future economic benefits 
are expected to flow to the entity.

 available for sale (afs): AFS 
are those non - derivative financial 
assets that are designated as 
available for sale or are not classified 
as loans and receivables,  
held-to-maturity investment or 
financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss.

 average weighted deposit rate 
(awdr): Weighted average interest 
rates offered for interest bearing 
deposits by commercial banks.

 
 capital reserves: The profits of a 

company that (for various reasons) 
are not regarded as distributable to 
shareholders as dividends. These 
include gains on the revaluation of 
capital assets and share premium.

 cash equivalents: Short-term, 
highly liquid investments that are 
readily convertible to known amounts 
of cash and which are subject to an 
insignificant risk of changes in value.

 commercial paper: A short term 
unsecured promissory note issued 
in the open market by quoted 
public companies representing an 
obligation of the issuing entity. 

 consolidated financial 
statements: Financial statement 
of a holding company and its 
subsidiaries based on their 
combined assets, liabilities and 
operating results.

 contingent liabilities: Conditions 
or situations at the reporting date, 
the financial effects of which are 
to be determined by future events 
which may or may not occur.

 corporate governance: Process 
by which corporate entities are 
governed to promote stakeholder 
interest. Shareholders exert collective 
pressure on management to ensure 
equitable decision making on 
matters that may affect the value 
of their holdings and base their 
response on statutory requirements 
or on so called “Best Practice”.

 credit risk: The risk that one party 
to a financial instrument will cause a 
financial loss for the other party by 
failing to discharge an obligation.

 debt securities market: 
 The Over-The-Counter (OTC) 

market in which Debt (fixed income) 
Securities are traded. This is the 
wholesale market more or less 
confined to commercial banks, 
financial institutions and large 
corporations.

 dividend cover : Post-tax profit 
divided by gross dividends.  This 
measures the number of times the 
dividend is covered by distributable 
profits.

 dividend gross : Portion of current 
and retained earnings, inclusive 
of tax withheld, distributed to 
shareholders.

 earnings per share: Post tax profit 
divided by the weighted average 
number of shares in issue during the 
year.

 effective interest method: A 
method of calculating the amortised 
cost of a financial asset or a financial 
liability (or group of financial assets 
or financial liabilities) and of allocating 

the interest income or interest 
expense over the relevant period.

 events occurring after the 
reporting period: Significant events 
that occur between the reporting 
period and the date on which 
financial statements are authorised 
for issue.

 fair value: The amount for which 
an asset could be exchanged 
or a liability settled, between 
knowledgeable, willing parties in an 
arm’s length transaction.

 financial instrument: Any contract 
that gives rise to a financial asset of 
one entity and a financial liability or 
equity instrument of another entity.

 fixed income securities: 
Securities whose current income is 
fixed or based on some underlying 
index. These are also known as 
debt securities since they represent 
a fixed obligation of the company 
unlike equity, which pays dividends 
only when the company makes 
profits. 

 forward rate agreement: An 
agreement between two parties who 
wish to protect themselves against a 
future movement in interest rates.

 Guarantee: A promise made for 
a fee by a third party (Guarantor), 
who is not a party to the contract 
between two others, that the 
guarantor will be liable if one of the 
parties fails to fulfill the contractual 
obligations.

 held to maturity investment: 
Non-derivative financial assets with 
fixed or determinable payments and 
fixed maturity that an entity has the 
positive intention and ability to hold 
to maturity.
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 interest rate swaP: An interest 
rate SWAP is a contract, whereby 
two parties agree to exchange a set 
of interest cash flows based on a 
notional principal on pre-arranged 
dates. Normally fixed rate interest is 
exchanged for a floating rate.

 issue management: Management 
of the issue of equity and debt 
instruments.

 issue price: Price at which new 
shares are sold to the public.

 lease: An agreement whereby the 
lessor conveys to the lessee in return 
for a payment or series of payments 
the right to use an asset for an 
agreed period of time.

 liabilities: Debt or obligations of a 
business.

 Margin trading: A credit facility 
given to investors who wish to 
expand their investment portfolio. 

 Market value per share: The 
price at which an ordinary share is 
transacted in the stock market.

 Market capitalisation: The market 
value of a company at a given date 
is obtained by multiplying the share 
price by the number of issued 
shares.

 net assets per share: Net assets 
(total assets less total liabilities) 
divided by the number of shares 
issued.

 non-controlling interests: Portion 
of the profit or loss and net assets 
of a subsidiary attributable to equity 
interests that are not owned, directly 
or indirectly through subsidiaries, by 
the parent.

 outright: The purchase or sale of a 
currency or security for delivery on 
any date other than spot (not being a 
swap transaction).

 overnight: Deposit or swap 
transaction for settlement on 
transaction date to or against the 
next business day after transaction 
date.

 Portfolio: Income generating assets 
such as loans, finance leases, 
investment securities and bills 
discounted etc.

 Price earnings ratio: Market price 
of a share divided by earnings per 
share.

 Primary dealer: A dealer in 
government securities licensed by 
the Central Bank of Sri Lanka. 

 Prime lending rate (Plr): The 
interest rate that a commercial bank 
will offer to its best customers.

 related parties: Parties are 
considered to be related if one party 
has the ability to control the other 
party or exercise significant influence 
over the other party in making 
financial and operating decisions.

 related party transactions: A 
transfer of resources, services or 
obligations between related parties, 
regardless of whether a price is 
charged or not.

 repurchase agreement: An 
agreement (repo for short) is the 
simultaneous sale and repurchase 
of a security on different settlement 
dates.

 return on shareholders’ funds: 
Post-tax profit divided by average 
shareholders’ funds. 

 revenue reserves: Reserves which 
may be distributed to shareholders 
as dividends.

 reverse repurchase agreement: 
An agreement (reverse repo for 
short) is the simultaneous purchase 
and resale of a security on different 
settlement dates.

 rights issue: The issue of new 
shares with the right given to existing 
shareholders to purchase them in 
proportion to their shareholdings.  
This raises new capital for the 
company, often including a premium.

 shareholders’ funds: Shareholders 
funds consist of issued and fully paid 
ordinary share capital plus capital 
and revenue reserves. 

 swap (currency): The simultaneous 
purchase and sale of identical 
amounts of a currency for different 
value dates. 

 subsidiary: A subsidiary is an 
enterprise that is controlled by 
another enterprise (known as the 
parent company). Control is the 
power to govern the financial and 
operating policies of an enterprise 
so as to obtain benefits from its 
activities.

 substance over form: The 
consideration that the accounting 
treatment  and the presentation  in 
financial statements of transactions 
and the events are governed by their 
financial reality and not merely by its 
legal form.

 venture capital company: Venture 
Capital Company is an entity which 
is specialised in engagement 
of the business of providing 
equity investment in relation to 
commencement or expansion of 
business project.

GlossarY of financial terMs contd.
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notice of MeetinG

Notice is hereby given that the 29th Annual General Meeting of Dunamis Capital PLC will be held on Wednesday 27 August 2014 at the 
Auditorium of the Postgraduate Institute of Management (PIM), No. 28, Leslie Ranagala Mawatha, Colombo 08 at 4.00 p.m. to transact 
the following businesses:

1. To receive the Report of the Board of Directors and the Audited Financial Statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March 
2014 together with the Report of the Auditors thereon.

2. To re-elect Mr. Nihara E. Rodrigo who retires by rotation in terms of Article 90 of the Articles of Association of the Company and 
offers himself for re-election as a Director.

3. To re-elect the Director appointed during the year namely Mr. R. Saliya A.W. Wickramasuriya who retires in terms of Article 97 of 
the Articles of Association of the Company and offers himself for re-election.

4. To re-appoint Messrs KPMG, Chartered Accountants, as Auditors of the Company for the ensuing year and authorise the Directors 
to determine their remuneration.

5. To authorise the Directors to determine and make donations.

By order of the Board,

(Sgd.)
K h l corporate services limited
Secretaries

Colombo
6 August 2014

Notes:

1. A member entitled to attend and vote at the above meeting is entitled to appoint a Proxy to attend and vote on behalf of him/her.

2. A Proxy need not be a member of the Company.

3. A Form of Proxy is enclosed for this purpose.

4. The Completed Form of Proxy must be deposited at the office of the Company Secretaries, No. 02, Deal Place, Colombo 03, not 
less than 48 hours before the time fixed for the meeting.
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notes
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forM of ProxY

I / We …………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
of ……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..……………………….
being a member/s of Dunamis Capital PLC, hereby appoint
Mr/Mrs/Miss ……………………………………………………………………..……..…………………………………………………………….
(holder of N.I.C. No. ……………………………………………………..) of ……………………………...………...…….………...…………….
…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………… whom failing 

1. Ms. Manjula Mathews whom failing
2. Mr. Dinesh Schaffter whom failing
3. Mr. Nihara E. Rodrigo whom failing
4. Mr. A.D.Eardley I. Perera whom failing
5. Mr. Chandana L.de Silva whom failing
6. Mr. R. Saliya A.W. Wickramasuriya

as my/our Proxy to represent me/us and vote on my/our behalf at the 29th Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held on 27 
August 2014 at 4.00 p.m. at the Auditorium of the Postgraduate Institute of Management (PIM), No. 28, Leslie Ranagala Mawatha, 
Colombo 08 and at any adjournment thereof and at every poll which may be taken in consequence thereof.

Please indicate your preference by placing a “X” in the box of your choice against the Resolution No.

 for aGainst

1. Receiving of the Report of the Board of Directors and the Audited Financial Statements of the  
Company for the year ended 31 March 2014 together with the Report of the Auditors thereon.

2. Re-election of Mr. Nihara E. Rodrigo, who retires by rotation in terms of Article 90 of the Articles of  
Association of the Company.

3. Re-election of Mr. R. Saliya A.W. Wickramasuriya, Director appointed during the year, who  
retires in terms of Article 97 of the Articles of Association of the Company.

4. Re-appointment of Messrs KPMG, Chartered Accountants, as Auditors of the Company for the  
ensuing year and authorising the Directors to determine their remuneration.

5. Authorising the Directors to determine and make donations.

Signed on this ………………day of ……………2014

………………………………..
Signature

……………………………….............
Shareholder’s N.I.C./P.P./Co.Reg.No. 
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instructions for the compLetion of the form of 
proxy.

1. Please perfect the Form of Proxy overleaf, after filling in legibly your 
full name and address, by signing in the space provided and fill in 
the date of signature and your National Identity Card Number.

2. The completed Form of Proxy should be deposited at the office of 
the Secretaries, K H L Corporate Services Limited, No. 02, Deal 
Place, Colombo 03, 48 hours before the time appointed for the 
holding of the meeting.

3. If any Attorney has signed the Form of Proxy, the relative Power 
of Attorney should also accompany the completed Form of Proxy 
for registration, if such Power of Attorney has not already been 
registered with the Company.

4. If the Shareholder is a company or a corporate body, the Proxy 
should be executed under its Common Seal in accordance with its 
Articles of Association or Constitution.

5. If there is any doubt as to how the vote is to be exercised, by reason 
of the manner in which the Form of Proxy has been completed, no 
vote will be recorded by the Form of Proxy.

forM of ProxY contd.
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as a holDing Company to a Range oF businesses, we at Dunamis 
Capital plC ReCognise the impoRtanCe oF tRust. the tRust that 
has been plaCeD in us by the Companies in whiCh we invest anD the 
tRust that is plaCeD upon us by ouR stakeholDeRs. it is that ample 
assuRanCe that takes us FaR in pRoviDing a CompRehensive seRviCe. you 
Can be suRe that the ConFiDenCe plaCeD in us will be as long-stanDing 
as ouR pResenCe in the inDustRy. tRust ouR ability to unloCk youR 
tRue potential anD guiDe you to FinanCial suCCess. 

CoRpoRate inFoRmation

name of the Company :
Dunamis Capital PLC

legal foRm :
Incorporated as a Public Company on 18 December 
1985 under the provisions of the Companies Act 
No. 17 of 1982 and listed on the Colombo Stock 
Exchange in the year 1986, Re-registered under the 
Companies Act No. 7 of 2007 on 15 August 2007.

RegisteReD offiCe :
02, Deal Place, Colombo 03. 

Company RegistRation numbeR :
PQ 69 

boaRD of DiReCtoRs :
Ms. Manjula Mathews 
Mr. Dinesh Schaffter 
Mr. Nihara E. Rodrigo 
Mr. A.D.E.I. Perera 
Mr. Chandana L. de Silva 
Mr. R. Saliya A.W. Wickramasuriya 

seCRetaRies anD RegistRaRs :
K H L Corporate Services Limited 
02, Deal Place, Colombo 03 
Tel: 011-2639807, 011-2639878 
Fax : 011-2639868   

lawyeRs :
Messrs Neelakandan & Neelakandan 
Attorneys-at-Law and Notaries Public 
M & N Building (Level 5) 
No. 02, Deal Place, Colombo 03 

auDitoRs :
Messrs KPMG 
Chartered Accountants
32A, Sir Mohamed Macan Markar Mawatha
P.O. Box 186
Colombo 03

pRinCipal bankeRs :
Commercial Bank of Ceylon PLC
DFCC Vardhana Bank PLC
Seylan Bank PLC
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